# STUNTING AND INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD FEEDING PRACTICES IN MADAGASCAR: ANALYSIS OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY

By

#### HASINA RAKOTOMANANA

Bachelor of Science in Agronomy Specialization Agricultural, Food Science and Technology University of Antananarivo Antananarivo, Madagascar 2012

Master of Science in Chemistry Applied to Industry and Environment Specialization Organic Chemistry University of Antananarivo Antananarivo, Madagascar 2014

> Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE May, 2016

# STUNTING AND INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD FEEDING PRACTICES IN MADAGASCAR: ANALYSIS OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY

Thesis Approved:

Dr. Barbara J. Stoecker

Thesis Adviser

Dr. Gail Gates

Dr. Deana Hildebrand

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am grateful for God Almighty's love and blessing.

I am also grateful for the Fulbright Foreign Student Program sponsored by the US Department of State for giving me the great opportunity to pursue my education in the US. I would like to gratefully acknowledge my Advisor, Dr. Barbara Stoecker, for her guidance and her mentorship. My gratitude also goes to Dr. Gail Gates and Dr. Deana Hildebrand who are part of my advisory committee.

I also appreciate all of the Nutritional Sciences Department faculty and staff for creating a welcoming environment for learning to all of the students and for their great help.

I am also grateful for my family back in Madagascar (Neny, Heritiana, Njiva, Harivola, Tsanta sy Hary) for their full support throughout my studies. I also would like to thank my friends back in Madagascar (Nirina, Mbola, Shek, Alexandra and Claudia) as well as friends here in the US (Marina, Miary, Blanchefort, Mark, Ojo, Christine and Josephus) for their support. I also thank all the colleagues in Dr. Stoecker's lab for their help and their guidance (Meron, Workneh and Tafere).

Last but not least, I acknowledge the DHS Program for allowing me access their data about Madagascar, without which this study could not have been done.

God bless you all!

Acknowledgements reflect the views of the author and are not endorsed by committee members or Oklahoma State University.

iii

#### Name: HASINA RAKOTOMANANA

#### Date of Degree: MAY, 2016

#### Title of Study: STUNTING AND INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD FEEDING PRACTICES IN MADAGASCAR: ANALYSIS OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY

#### Major Field: NUTRITIONAL SCIENCES

#### Abstract:

Madagascar is among the countries with a dramatically high prevalence of stunting in children under 5 years old. This study used the latest Demographic and Health Survey (2009) to investigate determinants of child stunting according to the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) framework on the causes of malnutrition and to evaluate infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices using the World Health Organization (WHO) indicators. Logistic regressions were performed to determine the variables associated with stunting and with inappropriate feeding practices. A cut-off at 24 months was used to separate the population into two groups. In 2009, 40.1% of the 1863 children aged 0-23 months and 53.9% of the 2911 children aged 24-59 months were stunted contributing to the 48.5% overall prevalence. In the younger group, boys (AOR=0.69 for girls), severely anemic children (AOR=3.50), children living in households that used non-iodized salt (AOR=0.76 for iodine content more than 15 ppm) and children living in rural areas (AOR=0.66 for urban) were more likely to be stunted. In the 24-59 months group, boys (AOR=0.84 for girls), moderately anemic children (AOR=1.79), children with incomplete immunization coverage (AOR=0.84 for full coverage), children whose mothers were breastfeeding (AOR=1.29), children who were perceived as small at birth (AOR=1.55) and children living in limited-resource households (AOR=3.13) were more likely to be stunted. Increased maternal height was associated with lower risks of stunting in both age groups (AORs=0.77 and 0.69). Region of residence was also a significant factor for stunting. The results also confirmed poor complementary feeding practices as only 17.4% of the children 6-23 months received the minimum diet diversity and 1.8% ate iron-rich food the day before the survey. No association was found between the IYCF indicators and stunting with logistic regression. Inappropriate feeding practices were associated with lower media exposure, lower family wealth and lower maternal education. This study contributes to the understanding of the determinants of child undernutrition and feeding practices in Madagascar.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
Importance of nutrition in the first 1000 days	4
Short and long term consequences of child undernutrition	6
Prevalence of stunting	7
Determinants of child stunting and undernutrition	8
Infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices indicators	10
Definitions of indicators	10
Indicators	11
IYCF in developing countries	11
IYCF and stunting	13
Determinants of IYCF practices	13
III. METHODS	16
Data source	16
Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS)	16
Sampling methods for DHS	18
Madagascar DHS	20
Variables	20
Data presentation	20
Data treatment	21
Variable choice	22
Statistical analyses	23
Descriptive statistics	23
Regression analyses	24

IV. DETERMINANTS OF STUNTING IN CHILDREN UNDER FIVE IN	26
MADAGASCAR	20 26
Mathada	20 28
Regults	20 20
Socia demographic characteristics of the study population	····29 20
Multivariate analyses	30
Discussion	
Immediate factors	32
Underlying factors	33
Basic factors	36
Implications for the Malagasy National Nutrition Plan	37
Conclusions	42
V. INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD FEEDING (IYCF) INDICATORS IN	
MADAGASCAR: ANALYSIS OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH	
SURVEY	51
Introduction	51
Methods	54
Results	55
Socio-demographic characteristics of the infants and mothers	55
Situation of IYCF indicators in Madagascar in 2009	55
IYCF and stunting	56
Determinants of inappropriate IYCF in Madagascar	56
Discussion	57
IYCF indicators for Madagascar	57
IYCF and stunting	58
Determinants of inappropriate IYCF practices	59
Implications for programs and nutrition interventions	60
Conclusions	62
	- 1
/I. CONCLUSIONS	71
REFERENCES	73

## LIST OF TABLES

Table	age
Table 1: Core indicators of IYCF (5)	12
Table 2: Variables included in the study according to the UNICEF framework on the causes of	f
malnutrition	23
Table 3: Socio-demographic characteristics of the children under 5 years of age, Madagascar	
2009 (n=4774)	43
Table 4: Immediate factors of stunting in children under 5 years old, Madagascar 2009	46
Table 5: Underlying factors (maternal and household) of stunting in children under 5 years old	l,
Madagascar	47
Table 6: Basic factors of stunting in children under 5 years old, Madagascar 2009	50
Table 7: Characteristics of the infants aged 0-23 months and their mothers, Madagascar 2009	
(n=1956)	63
Table 8: Determinants of inappropriate infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices,	
Madagascar 2009	66

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
Figure 1:Data treatment	22
Figure 2: Prevalence of stunting in Madagascar by age groups	
Figure 3: Prevalence of stunting in the regions of Madagascar	45
Figure 4: Infant and young child feeding (IYCF) indicators for Madagascar based on the	DHS
2009	65
Figure 5: Comparisons between the breastfeeding indicators from different surveys in	
Madagascar. Results expressed as percentages (%)	68
Figure 6: Comparisons between some complementary feeding indicators from different s	surveys in
Madagascar. Results expressed by percentages (%).	69
Figure 7: Comparison between countries of the infant and young child feeding (IYCF) in	dicators
	70

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Undernutrition, resulting from inadequate dietary intake, is a global health problem that affects almost all age groups but is more prevalent in developing countries. Using data from 2011, Black et al. (1) estimated that 45% of the deaths for children under 5 years in low and middle-income countries were directly attributable to undernutrition. When discussing undernutrition, three major terms are used, especially for children: stunted (too short-for-age), underweight (too light-for-age) and wasted (too light-for-height/length). These indicators are used not only to assess the nutritional status of children but also to have an insight about the nutrition situation across countries. Stunting is a sensitive indicator of undernutrition and stunting in under 5 year old children is associated with irreversible negative changes in health outcomes later in life.

Considerable efforts have been made in reducing the prevalence of stunting in children but the number of children affected is still high. Out of the 40 countries with the highest prevalence of stunting, 39 are located in Africa and Asia. Madagascar is one of the sub-Saharan African countries with a high burden of undernutrition. According to the State of the World's Children 2015 (2), 50% of the children were stunted, 36% were underweight and 15% were wasted. These statistics confirm the urgent need to implement successful nutrition interventions in order to address the problem.

An important amount of research has been conducted in investigating the determinants of undernutrition in various countries in order to design appropriate interventions. Translating research results into actions is challenging, as it requires political and social commitments so that interventions can be implemented easily. Madagascar is among the 20 countries with the highest burden of undernutrition that has a National Nutrition Plan. However, the lack of nutrition research and information to design better strategies to fight child undernutrition is an obstacle that the country is facing. In fact, research and data are invaluable tools to conduct, direct and monitor each of the interventions. Furthermore, acting at scale, reaching the part of the population in need and using indicators to follow up on the progress of the interventions are also vital for adequate nutrition actions. All of these suggest that a good knowledge about the target population and the context of the region of intervention is crucial. Unfortunately, to our knowledge, there is only limited literature and research about malnutrition in Madagascar despite the presence of agencies and Non Governmental Organizations (NGOs) operating in the field of nutrition. Inadequate interventions based on other countries are less likely to be effective without data-driven decision-making.

Therefore, the purpose of the study is to determine the key factors that influence child undernutrition in Madagascar. By knowing these factors, we will be able to assist in targeting more specific actions to overcome child undernutrition.

The overall research question to be answered is: "What are the determinants of child stunting in Madagascar?" The specific aims of the study are to:

- Determine the situation of child undernutrition in Madagascar according to the DHS data 2009
- Identify the factors that influence child stunting in Madagascar
- Assess the infant and young child feeding practices (IYCF) in Madagascar

- > Determine if there is relationship between IYCF indicators and stunting
- > Provide recommendations for future interventions.

#### CHAPTER II

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

#### Importance of nutrition in the first 1000 days

It is now well established that nutrition during the first 1000 days of life (starting from pregnancy until the second birthday is crucial for a child's survival and development). Several studies, done under the "Barker hypothesis" or the developmental origins of adult disease theories, demonstrated that unfavorable environments during fetal growth could cause permanent negative changes that increased the risk of various diseases later in adulthood (3). Specifically, deprived fetal development and low birthweight have been associated with increased risk of coronary heart diseases, diabetes, hypertension and stroke. Nutritional stress during intrauterine life is one of the factors that has been suggested to trigger such changes. Studies done in animals showed that both macronutrient imbalance and micronutrient intake during pregnancy affected birthweight, blood pressure and glucose tolerance. On the other hand, several nutrients have been shown to have multiple impacts on a child's neurodevelopment, and thus to influence the child's psychosocial abilities as well as academic performance. Specifically, deficits in protein, iron, zinc, copper or choline during pregnancy will affect the infant's brain size, as well as cognitive and motor development (4). Fetal nutrition is then critical for a child's development and will determine her abilities as an adult. Additionally, over the past decades the World Health Organization (WHO) has emphasized the importance of infant feeding during the first two years

of life, as it will have a direct influence on the nutritional status of the child, then on health and on survival (5).

Complementary feeding, i.e., feeding along with breast milk when the milk is no longer sufficient for the infant's nutritional needs, has a particular significance. At this time the infant is introduced to new foods that have to meet his specific nutritional requirements, otherwise he will most likely be malnourished. Inadequate complementary feeding practices are a cause of child malnutrition as well as some underlying infectious diseases in developing countries. Gibson et al. (6) showed that complementary feeding in developing countries often fails to meet the nutritional needs of the infants. Also, complementary foods are the main source of contamination in infants in places where access to improved drinking water is not frequent, which is the case in most developing countries. Consequently, complementary feeding practices, usually starting around 6 months of age, play an important role in child survival and in child nutritional status as well. Therefore, several of the interventions against child undernutrition are targeted on the improvement of complementary feeding practices, which have been shown to significantly reduce the prevalence of stunting at 36 months of age (7). Thus, the first 1000 days of the life of a child offers a critical period of time when the effects of nutrition on a child's development and survival as well as general health later in life are crucial. In developing countries where complementary feedings are inadequate, sanitation is a problem and food security is a huge concern, child undernutrition has reached alarming proportions (1). Undernutrition accounted for approximately 35% of the deaths and disease of children less than 5 years of age in low and middle-income countries in 2008 (8).

#### Short and long term consequences of child undernutrition

Several studies, mostly done in developing countries, have looked at the short and long term consequences of child undernutrition on health and economic development. Short term consequences of stunting include greater susceptibility to various infections and diseases due to a weaker immune system. Undernourished children are at an increased risk of having diarrhea and pneumonia, which can increase the risk of mortality (9). As an example, zinc deficiency is associated with an increased risk of pneumonia and diarrhea (8). Furthermore, nutritional deficiency has been shown to alter cognition, memory and locomotor skills later in life (4). As a result, children's brains do not achieve their full potential leading to poorer cognitive performance and educational achievement (9-11).

In the long term, stunting is negatively associated with increased years of school completed and ultimately with increased wage rate in adults (1). The INCAP Oriente study, a longitudinal study in Guatemala with a follow up of 40 years after the intervention, showed that better nutrition in early childhood resulted in increased wage rate in men, independently of schooling (12). A study done in Brazil confirmed these findings showing a positive dose-response association between height-for-age and lifetime earnings as well (8).

In addition, stunting affects at its greatest extent the nation because of its intergenerational effects. Apart from increased risk of having intrauterine growth restriction, undernourished and short stature mothers are most likely to have babies born with low birth weight who will have poor growth. These children from underweight mothers will, in their turn, be more likely to have low birthweight babies, thus creating an intergenerational effect of stunting (8). Some authors refer to this phenomenon as the stunting syndrome (9) contributing to the cyclical process of poverty. Stunted mothers will give birth to stunted children who will not be able to fully contribute to their country's development. In brief, child undernutrition is

affecting the individual, the family, the community and ultimately the nation because of its intergenerational effects and its role in poverty. Thereby, acting and intervening on the improvement of child nutrition can surely help in breaking the cycle of malnutrition and its intergenerational effects thus reducing, with appropriate measures, poverty in the long term.

#### **Prevalence of stunting**

The prevalence of stunting is significantly higher in developing countries, especially in Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa (1, 13). A worldwide decrease in the proportion of stunted children from 47% in 1985 to 29.9% in 2011 has been observed over the past decades (13). In 2005, 32% of the children younger than 5 years living in developing countries had height-for-age z-scores (14) lower than -2, constituting 177.7 million children (8). The latest estimation in 2014 of the prevalence of stunting is the joint child malnutrition estimates done by the WHO, the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) and the World Bank reporting a total number of 158.6 million stunted children globally bringing the global prevalence to 23.8% (15). Among these stunted children, 90% live in just 36 countries in the African and Southeast Asian regions (7), where the highest prevalence of undernutrition is observed. For the African continent, 56.3 million children were stunted in 2011 (1) constituting the highest prevalence of stunting (35.6%). Additionally, of the 40 countries with the highest stunting prevalence in the world, 23, including Madagascar, are located in the African continent. According to the State of the World's Children 2015 (2), 37% of the children in the sub-Saharan region were stunted and 21% were underweight. In 2015, 49.2% of the Malagasy children under 5 years were estimated to suffer from chronic malnutrition or stunting (2).

#### Determinants of child stunting and undernutrition

In an effort to better understand the underlying causes of undernutrition, several studies have been done in various countries, trying to define the determinants of child undernutrition.

In 1998, UNICEF issued a framework identifying the causes of malnutrition by categorizing all the factors in three: basic causes, underlying causes and immediate causes (16). Several authors have updated the framework but the three categories remained the same (1, 8).

The basic causes regroup all of the general contexts of the country or the community such as political, social, economic and environmental. The most obvious determinant of child undernutrition is poverty and the lack of capital. Moreover, the area of residence is a predictor of child undernutrition as well. Using DHS data from 36 developing countries, Smith et al. (17) showed that stunting prevalence was significantly higher in rural areas demonstrating that children living in urban areas had better nutritional status. Also, the region of residence is a strong predictor of malnutrition in a Burkina Faso study (18) and in a pooled data study in three Central Asian Republics (19).

The underlying causes encompass factors that are closer to the child such as household and maternal factors. Some authors argued that stunting starts before birth as low birthweight and preterm babies have higher chances to be stunted and an estimate of 20% of stunting has *in utero* origins (9). Therefore, maternal characteristics are important determinants of child undernutrition. A study done in Sri Lanka using DHS data showed that maternal stature is strongly correlated with height-for-age z-scores (14). For every 1 cm increase in maternal height, there was an increase of 0.03 - 0.06 HAZ in children. Also, both high and low maternal BMI had negative impacts on a child's HAZ (20). Similarly, results from a study in Kenya confirmed that short maternal stature had an impact on child HAZ; children born to short mothers had two times higher risk to be stunted (OR: 2.61 in infants 0-24 months and 2.94 in children 25-59 months).

Maternal BMI (low and high) was also a significant determinant of child undernutrition in the Kenyan study, having an effect on underweight and wasting but not on stunting (21). In a recent study in Tanzania, children whose mothers had BMIs less than 18.5 were more likely to be

stunted (OR: 1.54 in 0-23 months and 1.38 in 24-59 months) (22). Another important maternal characteristic is educational attainment. In Cameroon and in Senegal, HAZ improved as mothers had higher years of education (23). Likewise, in the Tanzanian study, children had higher risk of being stunted (OR: 2.51) when they were born to mothers with no education. The risks were lower when the mothers had primary education (OR: 2.08) (22). In some cases, the Sri Lankan study for instance, the mother's ethnicity was associated with the child's height-for-age, resulting in significant differences in the impact on stunting according to maternal origin (20). Lack of maternal access to health care as well as poor maternal health-seeking behaviors worsened children's nutritional status in Cameroon and in Ethiopia (24, 25). Finally, mother's age at child's birth was a significant predictor of stunting in Tanzania: infants aged 0-23 months whose mothers gave birth for the first time at an age younger than 20 were more likely to be stunted compared to those whose mothers gave birth the first time at 20-29 years (22). Thus, maternal age, stature, education and access to health care are important determinants of the child's health status.

Household factors are also considered as underlying factors as they can impact indirectly the child's health status. The most recognizable determinant of stunting and underweight in general is household wealth. A study investigating the socio-economic determinants of stunting in four regions of Senegal reported that an increase of 0.038 cm in HAZ for each unit increase of the family wealth index on a five point scale in children 6-35 months (23). Pongou et al. (24) confirmed these results showing that each increase of one unit in wealth index resulted in a rise of 0.176 cm in HAZ in Cameroon. Moreover, Gewa and Yandell (21) reported that children living in the richest households had lower odds of being stunted in Kenya compared to children living in the poorest families.

Also, evidence was found in studies in Asian countries such as Sri Lanka (20) and in some Central Asian Republics such as Uzbekistan, Kyrgyzstan and Kazakhstan (19), confirming the importance of household wealth in the child's nutritional status. Households with higher

income can have more resources dedicated to nutrition and health care than a low-income family, putting the latter at higher nutritional risk.

Another household factor that has been studied is sanitation. The Cameroonian study concluded that access to clean water and a high level of sanitation contributed to less stunting risks. Additionally, bigger household size (23) and a higher number of children younger than five years old (19, 20) were associated with lower HAZ in Senegal, in Sri Lanka and in the Central Asian Republics. Interestingly, Egata et al. (25) showed that the odds of being acutely undernourished increased if the decision-making process regarding the illness of the child was individually based compared to a common decision of both parents (OR=1.62). Some authors also found that maternal access to health care and services was associated with better HAZ in children (25, 26).

Immediate factors of malnutrition encompass the factors that are directly related to the child. In addition to feeding practices, sex, age and immunization and health status in general have been associated with stunting and underweight in children. Males were more likely to be stunted in most of the studies (21, 23, 24). In Kenya, infants with up-to-date immunization coverage had lower odds for being stunted (21). Also, children who had diarrhea or cough during the time of the survey were more likely to be stunted (21). In Cameroon (24) and Ghana (27), increased age was associated with decreased HAZ in children under 5 years.

#### Infant and Young Child Feeding (IYCF) practices indicators

#### Definitions of indicators

As previously mentioned, nutrition during the first two years of life offers a "window of opportunity" to optimize a child's growth and development. Aware of the importance of infant nutrition and to monitor the progress of each country following the recommendations on complementary feeding in 2002, the WHO released a set of indicators that could be used to assess

the situation of young child feeding practices. They included the early initiation of breastfeeding, exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months, continued breastfeeding at 1 year, introduction of solid, semi-solid or soft foods, minimum dietary diversity, minimum meal frequency, minimum acceptable diet, and consumption of iron-rich or iron-fortified foods as core indicators (5).

#### Indicators

Table 1 summarizes the core indicators of IYCF (5).

There are seven optional indicators including the proportion of children ever breastfed, continued breastfeeding at 2 years, age-appropriate breastfeeding, predominant breastfeeding under 6 months, duration of breastfeeding, proportion of bottle-fed children and milk frequency for non-breastfed children. If sufficient resources are allocated to the data collection during the survey, for instance advanced trainings of investigators or prolonged timeframe, data on the seven optional indicators on breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices can be produced.

#### **IYCF in developing countries**

The IYCF practices are often assessed in developing countries where undernutrition prevalence is the highest because of their importance in children's general health and nutritional status. The State of the World's Children 2015 reported poor progress in meeting the IYCF recommendations for the least developed countries for early initiation of breastfeeding (53%), exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months (46%) and introduction of complementary foods at 6-8 months (62%) (2). The statistics were even lower in the West and Central African regions and in East Asian countries.

Table 1: Core indicators of IYCF (5)

Indicator	Definition	Children included
Early initiation of breastfeeding	Proportion of the infants alive or deceased who were put to breast milk within one hour after birth.	Children born in the past 24 months
Exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months	Proportion of infants who were exclusively fed with breast milk for the first 5 months	Infants aged 0-5 months who received only breast milk the previous day
Continued breastfeeding at 1 year	Proportion of children aged 12-15 months who were fed breast milk	Infants aged 12-15 months who received only breast milk the previous day
Introduction of complementary foods	Proportion of children who received solid, semi-solid or soft foods	Infants aged 6-8 months who received solid, semi-solid or soft foods the previous day
Minimum dietary diversity	Proportion of children who received foods from 4 or more food groups	Children aged 6-23 months who received foods from 4 or more food groups the previous day
Minimum meal frequency	<ul> <li>Proportion of children who received solid, semi-solid or soft foods the minimum number of times</li> <li>2 times for breastfed infants 6-8 months</li> <li>3 times for breastfed children 9-23 months</li> <li>4 times for non-breastfed children 6-23 months</li> </ul>	Children aged 6-23 months (breastfed or not) who received solid, semi-solid or soft foods the minimum number of times the previous day
Minimum acceptable diet	Proportion of children aged 6-23 months, breastfed or not, who received a minimum acceptable diet (minimum meal frequency and minimum dietary diversity)	For non-breastfed children, those who received at least 2 milk feedings and had at least the minimum dietary diversity and the minimum meal frequency during the previous day
Consumption of iron-rich or iron-fortified foods	Proportion of children who received iron-rich or iron-fortified foods	Children aged 6-23 months who received iron-rich or iron-fortified foods the previous day

For Madagascar, from the 2004 Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) data (28), only 61% of infants were breastfed within one hour after birth, 67% were exclusively breastfed under 6 months and 78% were introduced to complementary foods between 6 and 8 months, showing better indicators than the average of the least developing and Sub-Saharan countries. Yet, complementary feeding practices such as meeting the minimum dietary diversity (31%) or minimum acceptable diet (25%) still need improvement because they were far below recommendations.

#### **IYCF and stunting**

A recent literature review collected studies that linked children's nutritional status and IYCF indicators in nine developing countries (29). They showed that not all of the indicators were associated with stunting in all of the countries. However, minimum meal frequency and consumption of iron-rich foods were the only indicators that were not associated with HAZ in any country. For instance, timely introduction of complementary foods was associated with lower odds of stunting in Bangladesh. Moreover, children who had the minimum acceptable diet had lower chances of being stunted in Zimbabwe. Although emphasizing the usefulness of the IYCF indicators, the authors suggested that additional information should be included when assessing IYCF. The association between stunting, wasting and underweight was also investigated by Disha et al. (30) in Zambia by using DHS data. Results showed that continued breastfeeding at 1 year, timely introduction of complementary foods and minimum acceptable diet were associated with improved HAZ in Zambia.

#### **Determinants of IYCF practices**

Few studies looked at the determinants of IYCF practices in developing countries. Most of the determinants are related to maternal characteristics such as maternal education or women's empowerment. For instance, mothers with no formal education were less likely to meet the

recommended complementary feeding practices including minimum meal frequency, dietary diversity, minimum acceptable diet and iron-rich food consumption in Uganda (31). Similar results were found in Bangladesh, as mothers with no education were more likely to have inappropriate complementary feeding practices compared to mothers who had at least primary education. Mothers with no formal education tended not to introduce complementary foods at 6-8 months and not to meet the minimum dietary diversity, the minimum meal frequency and the minimum acceptable diet (32). Additionally, a study using DHS data from 10 sub-Saharan African countries showed an association between some IYCF indicators and women's empowerment (33). For contextual reasons, results differed greatly among the countries. However, they demonstrated that higher economic empowerment or increased access to financial resources had positive associations with the minimum dietary diversity and the minimum acceptable diet criteria in nine of the countries. Interestingly, they found that socio-familial empowerment or a greater freedom of mobility and control of own health were associated with the likelihood of not meeting the IYCF recommendations in certain countries including Benin, Burkina Faso and Nigeria. They suggested that women with more social empowerment were more likely to be exposed to a broader and possibly erroneous knowledge of IYCF practices.

Household characteristics were also found to be associated with IYCF practices. For instance, children living in limited-resources households were more likely to have untimely introduction to complementary foods in India and Pakistan (14). Similar children were also more likely to meet the minimum acceptable diet in Nepal and India. These results confirmed the link between maternal, household and community characteristics and the breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices.

Child stunting is associated with short and long term negative consequences later in life. The first 1,000 days of life is critical for a child's development and offers a "window of opportunity" to address undernutrition. Also, child feeding practices, assessed by the IYCF

indicators play a major role in children's growth. The methods used for this study will be developed in the next chapter.

#### CHAPTER III

#### METHODS

The Demographic and Health Surveys datasets are an invaluable tool for the analysis of the nutrition situation in Madagascar because of their representativeness and the multitude of information they gathered. Used appropriately, the data analyses can be a great help for evidencebased decision-making processes in terms of nutrition interventions and policy.

#### Data source

#### Demographic and Health Surveys (DHS)

The DHS are a set of surveys established by the United States Agency for International Development (34) with the technical assistance of ICF International through the project called MEASURE DHS. This worldwide project is accountable for more than 300 household-based surveys in more than 90 countries across Africa, Asia, Latin America/Caribbean and Eastern Europe. The surveys are meant to be nationally representative to provide accurate data on the situation of the country. Information about fertility, family planning, maternal and child health, gender, HIV/AIDS, malaria and nutrition are collected at intervals of 5 years for many of the countries and the data are disseminated and are available for public use (34, 35).

The primary objective of the DHS is to provide the most representative and accurate information about the population in order help policy makers direct their analyses and choices.

Furthermore, governments but also donors, researchers and civil society widely use the DHS data for their investigations, for setting their funding priorities or simply to inform the population about health-related problems or up-to date situations (35). For instance, international organizations such as USAID, the World Bank or UNICEF use data from DHS to publish reports on various aspects of a country's health and demographic situation and then to prioritize their interventions.

Because the DHS is done at national and regional levels inside a country, one objective of the DHS is to improve the partnership and the collaboration between ICF International, USAID and the participating countries (34). In fact, ICF International only provides technical assistance before and during the survey and local institutions are responsible for conducting the actual surveys on-site.

Additionally, through the technical assistance of ICF International, another objective would be to develop in participating countries the skills necessary to conduct high-quality nationwide demographic and health surveys (36). Through their 25 and more years of expertise in designing and monitoring nationwide representative surveys, the process of conducting a DHS can help participating countries by improving data collection methods, using efficient data analysis tools and enhancing methodology.

And the final objective for the DHS is to help disseminate the data as well as encourage their utilization (36). Data from the DHS can be accessed and utilized by students, researchers and other institutions for further analyses. In fact, DHS data have been widely analyzed and used as a reliable source of information especially in the field of maternal and infant nutrition in developing countries.

For all of their surveys, MEASURE DHS always follows some general principles in order to have consistent and comparable data for different countries, and to have excellent quality results (34).

- Use of an existing sampling frame: since they are selecting a probability sample, MEASURE DHS uses an officially recognized sampling frame indicating the complete list of the statistical units covering the target population. The sample is then drawn from the sampling frame.

- Full coverage of the target population: DHS are nationally representative and cover all the territory of the participating country.

- Probability sampling: to avoid bias and to provide representative information, completely randomized and purposive sampling methods have been excluded.

- Using a suitable sample size: sample size is calculated according to the number of subgroups of the population of interest, the budget and the logistic organization.

- Using the most simple design possible: ICF International opted for the two-stage householdbased sample design for all of the DHS because of its simplicity of implementation and the quality of the data obtained.

- Conducting a household listing and pre-selection of households: in order to work efficiently and to avoid bias during the fieldwork, interviewers only conduct the survey in a list of pre-selected households. They are not allowed to change or replace the pre-selected households.

- Providing good sample documentation: the sample documentation provides useful information about the sampling methodology including the sample size, the sample allocation and the stratification.

- Maintaining confidentiality of an individual's information: because a great amount of personal information is asked during the surveys and blood samples and bio-markers are also collected, DHS policy insures that files are kept confidential. No potential identification of the households in the data file/datasets is allowed during and after the survey.

- Implementing the sample exactly as designed: this is done by working with competent and trained staff before, during and after the survey.

For collecting the data, the DHS use a two-stage sampling method. It is a probability sampling method, which means that every single household has an equal chance to be selected. The target population is typically any women aged 15-49 years and children under 5 years old even though some surveys include men aged 15-49 years. DHS ordinarily use two-level stratification for the determination of the sample size. The survey population is divided into regions, which constitute the first strata. And for each region a second stratification by urban-rural separation is completed. According to the budget allowed for the survey, a certain number of enumeration areas (EA) are defined in advance and are distributed equally between regions covering the totality of the country. Then within each region, the EAs are divided according to the population living in urban or rural areas, ensuring the representativeness of the information to be collected. Finally after the distribution of the EAs, still according to the budget, the number of households to be surveyed for each enumeration area is allocated depending on the total sample size of the national survey (34).

#### Madagascar DHS

The Madagascar Demographic and Health Survey 2008–09 (EDSMD-IV), or *Enquête Démographique et de Santé de Madagascar 2008–09*, was conducted by the Institut National de la Statistique (35)/Direction de la Démographie et des Statistiques Sociales, the Vice Primature chargée de la Santé Publique, and the Institut Pasteur de Madagascar with technical assistance from ICF International. A total of 600 EAs were drawn and each of the 22 regions were assigned 25 EAs with the exception of the region Antananarivo which had 50 EAs due to the size and the complexity of the social and economic characteristics of the households within this area.

For each EA, DHS chose to interview 32 households bringing the total expected sample survey at 19,200 households with 4,768 in urban areas and 14,432 in rural areas, covering 118/119 Districts. The fieldwork took place from November 2008 to August 2009 (35). A total of 17,857 households participated in the survey, and complete interviews were conducted with 17,375 women aged 15–49 and 8,586 men aged 15–59.

#### Variables

#### Data presentation

The data for the Madagascar 2009 DHS are divided into seven separate datasets: couples, household, women, children, men, household members and birth datasets. The datasets are the responses to the three core questionnaires of DHS: the Household questionnaire, the Women's questionnaire and the Men's questionnaire. For consistency in all DHS surveys, variables are coded by the DHS standard codes and country-specific responses and/or variables are also given. Missing values and responses that are not within the acceptable range of the possibilities are handled the same way for all the DHS datasets. Each dataset then has several sections or specific topics such as respondent's basic data, maternity, fertility or malaria; and each section has its own

variables, which are basically a response to a question in the survey. The variables are presented as numbers and a recode file is available for transcription during analyses.

#### Data treatment

Given that the current project was conducted on children under 5 years old, the child dataset was the most relevant because it not only provided basic and detailed information about the mother and the household but it also covered topics about the child such as health, immunization and nutrition. The dataset contained a large number of variables and some of them were not related to our analyses (such as the fertility preference or the knowledge of tuberculosis by the parents). Because it would take considerable time to run a program on the statistical software if the dataset is huge, we removed unrelated variables and created a new dataset. Furthermore, for the descriptive analyses, new variables, especially for categorical variables, had to be created. These include nutritional status of children (stunted or not stunted), source of drinking water and toilet facilities.

Only 5,875 children under five from the 12,448 in the child dataset were included in the height measurement. Furthermore, weight data were intentionally omitted in the child dataset due to a reported lack of precision during the measurements. After removing the missing values and the values out of the plausible limits, the dataset contained 4,774 observations. The next figure summarizes the process in the creation of the definitive dataset.



Figure 1:Data treatment

#### Variable choice

The UNICEF framework on the causes of malnutrition is now widely recognized (16). It identifies three levels of factors that predict malnutrition: immediate, underlying and basic causes.

- The immediate causes can also be considered as individual child causes such as sex, age or immunization coverage.

- The underlying causes identify the problems beyond the individual level. Factors such as household food security, sanitation or caring practices are considered as underlying causes.

- The basic causes encompass the factors at a regional or the national level such as political and legal situation.

According to previous studies and the UNICEF framework (1, 16) and considering the availability of the data, the next table presents the summary of variables that were tested for possible association with child stunting and the IYCF.

Table 2: Variables included in the study according to the UNICEF framework on the causes of malnutrition

<b>Factors</b> levels	Categories	Variables
Immediate causes	Child	Gender
	characteristics	Age
		Breastfeeding status
		Immunization coverage
		Anemia level
Underlying causes	Maternal	Education
	characteristics	Religion
		Marital status
		Media exposure
		Age at first birth
		Anthropometric measures
		Anemia level
		Work status
		Antenatal care and delivery
	Household	Household size
	characteristics	Wealth index
		Sanitation (drinking water, toilet facility)
		Head of the household characteristics
		Partner/husband's education
		Partner/husband's work status
		Child's caregiver
Basic causes	Other	Region of residence
	characteristics	Area of residence (urban vs. rural)

#### Statistical analyses

#### Descriptive statistics

Before checking for the association between variables, a brief descriptive statistical analysis was performed on the survey population. The frequency of the variables such as gender, wealth index distribution, place of residence, maternal education or sanitation was calculated in order to have basic information about the population. Additionally, the national and regional prevalence of stunting in 2009 in Madagascar was also calculated for children under 5 years old. The 2006 WHO growth standards were used by the DHS group to assess the height/length-for-age of the children and the cut off of <-2 height/length-for-age z-score was used to define stunting (36).

For the IYCF, there are eight core indicators and seven optional indicators. These indicators not only assess the breast-feeding practices but also the early nutrition of infants and children. The core indicators include early initiation of breastfeeding; exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months; continued breastfeeding at 1 year; introduction of solid, semi-solid or soft foods; minimum dietary diversity; minimum meal frequency; minimum acceptable diet and consumption of iron-rich or iron-fortified foods. The WHO released in the report the formulas and provided guidance for the calculation of the indicators (5). Information about minimum meal frequency as well as minimum acceptable diet were not collected during the 2009 Madagascar DHS, so indicators six and seven could not be calculated. After calculations, the results were shown as the proportion of children for each indicator in specific age groups, as recommended by the WHO. These indicators constitute invaluable tools in evaluating the progress of Madagascar regarding child feeding practices.

#### Regression analyses

In order to identify the determinants of child stunting, logistic regression models have been used since the outcome variable is not normally distributed. As previous studies suggested, and based on the WHO recommendations for continued breastfeeding, analyses were done within specific age groups: infants of 0-23 months of age and young children between 24-59 months. Within each age group, each plausible explanatory variable was tested with bivariate logistic regression for an association with the binary variable created for the presence or absence of

stunting. In order to analyze categorical variables, dummy variables were created and the responses were compared with a reference. Variables that reached a significance level of p < 0.1 in bivariate analyses were included in the multiple regression models. Additive stepwise models were constructed for each of the three risk factor categories according to the UNICEF framework with all the significant variables. The adjusted odds ratio of each determinant of stunting will be identified.

To determine the relationship between stunting and IYCF practices, simple logistic regressions were also performed. IYCF practices as well as stunting variables were coded as binary variables. Binary logistic regressions were also used to define the determinants of inappropriate IYCF practices. All of the statistical analyses were computed on SAS 9.4 and a significance level of 5% was chosen.

#### CHAPTER IV

# DETERMINANTS OF STUNTING IN CHILDREN UNDER FIVE IN MADAGASCAR

With an estimated 158.6 million children affected in 2014 (15), stunting is a major public health issue especially for developing countries located in sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast Asia. The World Health Organization (WHO) predicted that a total of 49.2% of children were chronically malnourished in Madagascar in 2014 placing the country among those with the highest prevalence of stunting in the world (37).

Stunting resulting from chronic malnutrition leads to short and long term negative consequences if not addressed at a young age. Short-term negative outcomes include greater susceptibility to various infections such as diarrhea and pneumonia due to a weaker immune system (9). Stunted children do not achieve their full developmental potential leading to poorer cognitive performance and educational achievement compared to their well-nourished counterparts. Memory and locomotor skills can be altered as well (4). Negative associations have been found in Brazil and Guatemala between stunting, years of schooling and salary as adults (8, 10). Moreover, stunting promotes the continuation of the cycle of poverty because of its intergenerational effect: stunted mothers are more likely to give birth to stunted children who will contribute less to their country's development (9). Based on the UNICEF framework, there are three main categories of determinants of childhood malnutrition: the basic causes, the underlying causes and the immediate causes (1, 2). Poverty and lack of capital as well as political instability are the basic causes of malnutrition. Area of residence is also a determinant of stunting as rural children are more affected (18). A growing body of literature confirms that household factors such as family wealth (18, 20, 21), sanitation (24) and household size (23) are some of the underlying causes of malnutrition. Furthermore, maternal characteristics such as education (23, 24), maternal stature (21) and BMI (20, 22), maternal access to health care (25, 26) and maternal age at first birth (22) are strong determinants of stunting. Immediate or biological risk factors include the sex (22-24), age (19, 22, 26) and birthweight of the child (24, 27).

Lately, a myriad of nutrition interventions targeting the improvement of children's nutrition have been implemented. The Maternal and Child Nutrition Group (MCNG) showed that the promotion of proper complementary feeding along with other supportive strategies including educational groups and food provision are the most effective interventions to reduce stunting in children before 36 months of age (7). They reported reductions in the prevalence of stunting of 19% in infants at 12 months and 17.2% at 24 months with 99% coverage with feeding interventions combined with supportive activities. However, for any intervention to be successful, it should be designed and tailored to fit the local context of the country so it can reach the most vulnerable segment of the population.

Despite being one of the 20 countries with the highest burden of malnutrition (8), there is to our knowledge, very limited research concerning nutrition in Madagascar. One of the few published studies about nutrition in Madagascar was carried out by Asgary et al. (38) in a commune in the Northern part of the country. They found a relatively high stunting prevalence (36.2%) and concluded that inadequate access to food as well as the lack of nutrition knowledge by the mothers were the barriers to adequate nutrition in children under 5 years. Our study is the

first to use nationwide data to analyze the key factors that influence stunting in Madagascar. Knowing these factors will be a valuable tool to help policy decision-making and to assist in more specific targeting of actions to overcome child undernutrition.

#### Methods

Data from the most recent Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) done for Madagascar from November 2008 to August 2009 (EDSMD-IV) were used. A total of 17,375 participating women aged 15 to 49 years old (35) were interviewed. From the total participants, data from 4,881 women who had children under 5 years old were collected to create the child database. After removing missing values, statistical analyses were conducted with a total of 4,774 children.

The 2006 WHO growth standards (39) were used by the DHS group to assess height-forage of the children with a cut off of <-2 length/height-for-age z-score (LAZ/HAZ) used to define stunting (40). Variables for analysis from the larger survey were selected according to significant determinants of child undernutrition in developing countries found in the literature (21, 22) and according to their availability in the dataset. Plausible explanatory variables were analyzed by the three categories based on the UNICEF framework: basic, underlying and immediate determinants.

Analyses were done within two groups, dividing the study population into: 0 - 23 months and 24 - 59 months, as recommended by the WHO for continued breastfeeding (41) and as suggested by previous studies (20). Bivariate logistic regressions were performed individually on each variable to determine the association with the LAZ/HAZ. Variables that reached a p-value of < 0.1 were included in the final additive stepwise models. After the bivariate analyses, all of the variables having association at a level of p < 0.1 with HAZ were grouped into the three factors described by UNICEF (immediate, underlying and basic). Multivariate logistic regression models were run for each set of factors for all significant variables. All of the statistical analyses were
computed on SAS, v. 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) and a significance level of 5% was chosen for the final models.

# Results

#### Socio-demographic characteristics of the study population

The characteristics of the population in the two age groups: 0-23 months and 24-59 months were very similar (Table 3). There were no significant differences in the percentage of boys and girls in either group. Almost half of the households were in the poorer and poorest categories (49.6% for the 0-23 months group and 49.9% for the 24-59 months group). The great majority of the households lived in the rural areas (82.2% for the younger group and 81.7% for the older group). Additionally, a total of 28.6% of the mothers in the younger group and 27.9% in the older group did not receive any formal education. Moreover, the majority of the mothers who had gone to school only attended primary school (49.7% for the 0-23 months group and 51.9% for the 24-59 months group). Nearly all of the mothers breastfed their children as evidenced by less than 1% of the mothers who never breastfeeding in either of the age groups.

A substantial proportion of the households were facing sanitation problems: only 3.4% and 3.1% in each group received their drinking water from protected and safe sources such as public taps or tube wells. Moreover, more than half of the households in each age group did not have toilet facilities (57.5% and 55.1% respectively).

According to the 2006 WHO growth charts, a total of 48.4% of the children under five in Madagascar were stunted in 2009. Stunting was more prevalent in the older group (53.8% vs. 40.1%) than among younger children (figure 2). In both age groups, an extremely high prevalence of stunting was observed in the regions Amoron'I Mania (66.3% for the younger group and 74.3% for older group) and Matsiatra Ambony (52.7% for the 0-23 months and 72.7% for the 24-59 months groups) (Figure 3). Lower prevalence was calculated for the regions Betsiboka (14.9% for the younger group and 23.6% for the older group), Sava (34.6% for the 0-23 months) and Diana (40.5% for the 24-59 months) (Figure 3).



Figure 2: Prevalence of stunting in Madagascar by age groups

After the bivariate analyses, all of the variables having association at a level of p < 0.1 with HAZ were grouped into the three factors described by UNICEF (immediate, underlying and basic). Multivariate logistic regression models were run for each set of factors for all significant variables.

# Multivariate analyses

# Immediate factors of stunting

In the younger children, sex and anemia level as well as child age were associated with stunting in the younger children (Table 4). Girls younger than 24 months were less likely to be stunted (AOR=0.69) and the risk of stunting increased with the age. Severely (AOR=3.50) and moderately anemic (AOR=1.72) children were more likely to be stunted. Similar results were observed for sex in the older group with an AOR=0.84 for girls.

Children in the older group with moderate and mild anemia were at higher risk of being stunted (AOR=1.79 and 1.27) than those with normal hemoglobin concentrations. Severe anemia

was not significantly associated with stunting in the 24-59 months group but only 13 children were severely anemic. Also, full immunization coverage (BCG, DPT, hepatitis B and polio) was associated with a lower risk of stunting (AOR=0.84).

# Underlying factors of stunting

The risk of stunting was lower as maternal HAZ increased in both age groups: AOR=0.77 and 0.69, respectively (Table 5). Children in the 0-23 months group who were still being breastfed had lower risk of stunting (AOR=0.63). Lower odds ratios were also observed in children whose mothers watched TV almost every day (AOR=0.55). Still in the younger group, children living in households using iodized salt (concentration > 15 ppm) were less likely to be stunted compared to those using salt with 0 – 7 ppm iodine (AOR=0.76).

In the older group, children were more likely to be stunted if their mothers were breastfeeding (AOR=1.29). Also, children whose mothers were working on extended family's land were more likely to be stunted (AOR=1.63) than children whose mothers were working on their own land. Children perceived by mothers as smaller than average at birth were also more likely to be stunted (AOR=1.55) compared to those seen as having an average birthweight. Additionally, the chances of being stunted increased with number of living children (AOR=1.09) in the 24-59 months group. Not sharing a toilet facility was associated with decreased odds of being stunted (AOR=0.62). Finally, still in the older group, decreased household wealth was associated with higher odds of stunting in some wealth categories (AOR=3.13 in the poorer and AOR=3.18 in the middle). But there was no significant difference between the richest and the poorest households regarding the odds of stunting.

### Basic factors of stunting

Both region and area of residence were significant basic factors predicting under five stunting (Table 6). Children living in the urban areas were less likely to be stunted in both age

groups (AOR=0.67 and 0.73 respectively). Additionally, children living in the region Amoron'I Mania were more than twice as likely to be stunted compared to the children living in the the capitol city region Analamanga, regardless of the age group (AOR=2.45 for the younger group and AOR=2.34 for older children). In contrast, children living in the regions Betsiboka (AOR=0.22 for younger age group and 0.25 for older age group) and Melaky (AOR=0.28 for 0-23 months and 0.42 for 24-59 months) were less likely to be stunted compared to those living in Analamanga.

# Discussion

Our results demonstrate that childhood stunting is a public health challenge in Madagascar as almost half of the children under five years old (48.5%) were affected in 2009. The situation has hardly changed for more than half a decade because the WHO reported a prevalence of 49% of childhood stunting in 2015.

#### Immediate factors

The key individual factors associated with stunting appeared to be age of the child and the anemia level for both age groups. Several studies done in sub-Saharan Africa confirmed the finding that risk of stunting increases with age (21, 22, 24). A study using data from 54 countries from the WHO Global Database on Child Growth and Malnutrition confirmed that growth faltering occurs as soon as 3 months after birth in developing countries. And, the mean LAZ of infants drops dramatically until 24 months, indicating that odds of being stunted are higher as the infant grows older during this timeframe (42).

Additionally, sex was a significant determinant as boys were more likely to be stunted compared to girls in both age groups, which is in accordance with findings from other sub-Saharan countries (22-24). A meta-analysis using DHS data from 16 African countries concluded that boys were consistently at higher risk of stunting than girls in 10 of the countries with an OR=1.16 (43). Comparison of the normal height-for-age growth curves (50th percentiles) between boys and girls showed that boys have higher lengths than girls suggesting higher nutritional needs (44). Thus, given the same amount of food, boys will be more likely to be stunted than girls.

Tested in the older group only because some children in the younger group would not meet the recommended age, complete immunization coverage was an immediate factor which was associated with lower risk of stunting. A study in Indonesia concluded that complete immunization was associated with lower morbidity and lower prevalence of stunting in children aged 12-59 months (45). Given the sanitary conditions in Madagascar, where 46.6% of the households drank from unprotected water sources and only 3.6% had improved toilet facilities, having all required vaccines could be critical in the prevention of infectious diseases that affect not only nutritional status but also health in general. Additionally, Gewa and Yandell (21) suggested that the mothers of the children with complete immunization coverage may have access to health care and have contact with health professionals leading to better nutritional and health knowledge and thus better nutritional status in children.

### Underlying factors

Maternal height was a significant underlying factors for stunting in both age groups. Maternal stature often has been shown as a strong determinant of child undernutrition in various studies (20-22). Additionally, Victora et al. confirmed the consistent association between maternal height and infants low HAZ by using pooled data from developing countries. They found significant association between birthweight of the children and their grandmother's height, suggesting that the intergenerational effects of undernutrition last at least for three generations (11).

Moreover, Black et al. (8) pointed out the association between maternal short stature and maternal BMI and child undernutrition. We also found that children whose mothers had low BMI (<18.5) were more likely to be stunted (data not shown) but the BMI variable was not included in the multivariate models because it is correlated with maternal height. Low BMI in mothers may be due to an overall food insecurity in the household. Gewa and Yandell (21) argued that an environment lacking in adequate nutritious food sources would affect the children and the parents in a similar way resulting in poor nutritional status in both. A study investigating seasonal food poverty reported that more than two thirds of the Malagasy population had an average calorie intake below 2133 calories. Dietary energy intakes can drop as low as 1794 calories per capita within the poor households during the lean season suggesting an overall food insecurity situation (46).

The lower risk of stunting with maternal breastfeeding status in the younger group if the mother is currently breastfeeding may be explained by the protective effects of breastfeeding on growth and development during the first two years of life following the WHO recommendations (41). In the older group, however, the risks are higher which may suggest poor dietary diversity, which has been linked to stunting (47). Also, this may be the result of cumulative inappropriate complementary feeding practices. Moreover, a study done in the Northern part of the country reported that most mothers share the same food with their children regardless of their age (38). And the Malagasy household diet consists mainly of carbohydrates including rice, consumed 6.2 times a week and cassava, consumed 3.9 times a week, and rarely contains animal protein (48), which is not ideal for children. Uauy et al. (49) confirmed the importance of dietary protein for children's growth because they have higher requirements per kg of body weight than adults. Additionally, the mother might breastfeed a younger sibling, which could also influence the growth of the index child because less time would be allocated for the care of the index child.

Not using iodized salt was significantly associated with stunting in the 0-23 months group as the odds ratio decreased with an increased concentration of iodine in domestic salt (OR=0.76 with a concentration more than 15 ppm of iodine compared to 0-7 ppm). In fact, iodine has been shown to play a role in growth and development through the thyroid hormones (50, 51). However, no information was collected during the survey about whether or not mothers/caregivers used iodized salt for the preparation of complementary foods.

Additionally, the results of the Comprehensive Food and Nutrition Security and Vulnerability Analysis conducted in the rural areas of Madagascar in 2010 showed that only 28.1% of the infants aged 6-12 months, 35.5% of infants 12-18 months and 36.5% of the infants aged 18-24 months were given flesh foods potentially rich in iodine such as fish and seafoods. And even lower proportions were given eggs, another potential source of dietary iodine (48). If we assume that the only source of iodine was from the diet after the first 6 months, most of the breastfed children would rely on the iodine content in breast milk because of the low consumption of iodine-rich foods, unless mothers added iodine to their complementary foods. Thus, the infants are at higher risk of stunting if the mothers do not have sufficient iodine intake. Additionally, using iodized salt may reflect better nutrition knowledge in mothers leading to better nutrition outcomes in children.

Mothers who work on extended family lands have children with higher risks of being stunted in the 24-59 months group compared to mothers who work on their own land. Maternal working status may be a determinant for child growth, especially if they work in agriculture, because of the lesser time allocated to childcare and nutrition as they spend all day away from their children. Households who have to work on family's land have to split the agricultural products reducing considerably the food supply.

Children perceived by the mothers as small during delivery were more likely to be stunted. They may in fact have been low birthweight, which will put them at a higher risk of stunting. Channon (52) reported that mothers' perception of infant size is a suitable proxy for birthweight regardless of the country.

Numerous studies have demonstrated the importance of household wealth in children's nutritional status (22-25). Higher family wealth usually means that more resources can be distributed to nutrition and health care in general suggesting lesser risks of undernutrition in children (17). However, the odds of stunting between the richest households and the poorest were not significantly different. The poorest household may have been eating other sources of food that were not being captured in the questions asked by the DHS that could influence children's nutritional status. For example, Ramaroson Rakotosamimanana et al. (53) reported that eating *Moringa oleifera* leaves is fairly common in children in the most Northern part of the country compared to children living in the capital. And *Moringa* is a good source of protein (54) and its consumption is likely to benefit the children's growth. These results confirm that household wealth alone does not explain stunting odds in the poorest households.

Association between toilet facilities and HAZ are consistent with the findings in the literature (24), as having shared toilets will favor the dissemination of infectious diseases.

### Basic factors

The area and region of residence were strong predictors of child stunting for both age groups. Urban children were less likely to be stunted as confirmed by a study from 36 developing countries (17). The authors suggested that children living in urban areas have better socioeconomic conditions that promote better nutritional status than their rural counterparts. However, the positive effects of living in urban areas are cumulative and children presumably would be exposed to the advantages for their lifetime. For instance, they may be born to well-

nourished mothers, already reducing considerably the risk of stunting; they are also more likely to receive better complementary food and be provided better health care. For example, we found that the mean diet diversity score was higher in children living in urban areas (2.42) than in rural areas (1.36).

The differences in the odds of stunting in various regions of Madagascar may be explained by the availability of the resources for food as well as the work opportunities. The Analamanga region was chosen as a reference because it encloses the capital city. The Sofia, Melaky and Betsiboka regions are located on the coast and/or near fishing areas, suggesting that households can generate money and have healthier food sources. Additionally, these three regions have several tourist sites including various national parks and natural reserves providing another source of income for households working on these sites. Thus, these factors may explain why children living in these regions may have lower risks of being stunted compared to children living in the Analamanga region. On the other hand, children living in the Amoron'I Mania and Matsiatra Ambony regions were at increased risk of stunting compared to children living in the capitol region. One reason for the higher odds of stunting may be that those regions are landlocked and do not necessarily have access to diverse foods, especially during the lean season. Moreover, a substantial proportion of the households in these regions are below the second wealth index quintile (36.4% for Matsiatra Ambony and 50.7% for Amoron'I Mania, data not shown). However, household wealth alone does not explain the higher risk of stunting in these regions because other regions such as Atsimo Atsinanana have dramatically higher proportions of poor households (71.4%) yet the risk of stunting is not significantly different compared to Analamanga.

#### Implications for the Malagasy National Nutrition Plan

The *Plan National d'Action pour la Nutrition* (PNAN II 2012-2015), the most recent national nutrition plan of Madagascar, has five main focus points including preventing and managing malnutrition as well as reducing malnutrition risks in vulnerable groups in case of natural disasters (55). The interventions focused on the promotion of community programs, micronutrient supplementation and fortification; deworming as well as nutrition education among adolescents, school-aged children, pregnant women and children under 5 years of age. Several interventions mentioned in the PNAN II have successfully reduced stunting in other developing countries. Preliminary studies including a landscape nutrition analysis by international experts from UNICEF and WHO as well as an evaluation of the former National Nutrition Plan were done prior to the elaboration of the PNAN II. However, specific data on determinants of child undernutrition in Madagascar are scarce. Morris et al. (56) argued that the rarity of strong evidence-based data and the lack of relevant national program evaluations are one of the main reasons why nutrition interventions are having low success.

One of the main findings of this study is the disparity between the 22 regions of Madagascar in terms of stunting prevalence and the odds for children under five to be stunted. Having individual regional nutritional plans could be a more effective way to tackle the problem as argued by Bryce et al. (57). Goals and objectives are written at a national level in the PNAN II, however, some regions, for instance Amoron'I Mania, may require more interventions and more specific actions than others because of the very high prevalence of stunting. Plus, Ramaroson Rakotosamimanana and colleagues (58) showed that parental knowledge about nutrition in poor households was different in two regions of Madagascar and parental beliefs about nutritional values of foods lead to different food habits in different regions.

This present study highlights the importance of designing more specific and tailored interventions at a subnational level. Moreover, resources available and cultural context are different for each region, suggesting that various approaches may be needed.

Our results also showed that determinants in infants and young children (0-23 months) and children (24-59 months) are different. The nutritional status of the older group seems to depend more on household and community factors in addition to maternal variables. Thus, implementing different nutrition interventions for each age group could be more effective.

One main point to consider about the PNAN II is the sustainability of the results. Though designed to have results within three years of intervention, consideration should be made of the parameters that could affect stunting in the medium and long-term. Parameters that indirectly influence nutrition such as women's education and women's health care programs should be emphasized as they have shown protective effects on the household nutritional status as a whole. Particularly, interventions promoting the health of women of reproductive age (15-49 years) should be strengthened. Efforts should be made to avoid low birthweight because short stature mothers are more likely to have low birthweight babies who will be at increased risk of stunting.

The current interventions suggested in the PNAN II involve supplementation of micronutrients such as iron, folic acid, vitamin A and zinc for women aged 15-24 years and pregnant women through mass campaigns. The PNAN II also includes nutrition education programs for adolescents in community centers and nutrition education sessions in primary and secondary schools. No considerations were made about aspects of pregnant women's health such as antenatal visits or nutrition counseling during pregnancy. The Kenyan government placed the improvement of nutritional status of women of reproductive age as a priority for their National Nutrition Plan (59). One of the priority areas of the Kenyan nutrition plan is to promote regular weight monitoring and appropriate counseling of pregnant and lactating women, besides

promoting adequate micronutrient intake by improving nutrition knowledge among the population. Thus, in the Kenyan Nutrition Plan, multiple efforts are made to avoid low birthweight and complications during birth.

The PNAN II includes a wide variety of nutrition education programs targeted to mothers and women of reproductive age about healthy nutrition and complementary feeding. Bhutta et al. (7), however, pointed out that education strategies alone are less likely to be successful in reducing malnutrition in food insecure populations unless accompanied with food provision. Additionally, Liu and colleagues (60) predicted that Madagascar would remain one of the hotspots of food insecurity for the next decades. According to the population growth and the climate change, they reported that Madagascar would have less caloric intake per capita and a decrease in the capacity for importing food leading to additional undernutrition problems. Moreover, because more than 80% of the population make their living from agriculture, reinforcing this sector would not only give better food sources but also would improve household income. Minten and Barrett (61) suggested that ameliorating the yields of staple crops such as rice and cassava through the adoption of improved agricultural techniques were associated with better economic conditions for the poorest households in Madagascar. They also concluded that cash crop production such as vanilla and cloves were associated with improved welfare indicators.

Another point to be addressed in the fight against malnutrition in Madagascar is investment in capacity building and training of local human capital. As Morris et al. (56) reported, the lack of skilled personnel and nutrition specialists in developing countries is an obstacle for the success of nutrition actions. The results of the Landscape Analysis conducted in the 36 countries with the highest burden of undernutrition, including Madagascar, showed the inadequacy of the capacity of nutrition specialists in all of the countries. Postgraduate degrees in nutrition are limited and the existing ones tend to focus more on disease control (62). There is an

urgent need to design and implement nutrition curriculum throughout the teaching and research institutions in the country. Advanced training in nutrition should bring not only necessary knowledge and skills but also motivation and ability for malnutrition-related jobs and activities (56).

Overall, our results confirmed the multifactorial aspects of stunting, as several of the risks factors are not directly related to child nutrition. Promoting and implementing nutritionsensitive interventions, essentially in agriculture, education and health should be seriously considered. One of the main strategic points of the PNAN II is to reduce food insecurity by diversifying agricultural activities. The PNAN II includes programs that promote the production of short cycle livestock and the culture of vegetables through dissemination of improved agricultural techniques, ensuring adequate access to micronutrients and animal products. Such nutrition-sensitive activities in different sectors would be helpful in the effort of reducing malnutrition. For instance, the Ethiopian Nutrition Plan aimed to strengthen nutrition related interventions in agriculture, education, sanitation and industry. Their initiatives in the education sector include promoting key nutrition actions in schools, such as gardening and nutrition clubs, as well as capacity building of teachers regarding nutrition and food security (63). The next National Nutrition Plan for Madagascar should be multi-sectorial as well and should be part of a broader action plan including agricultural, health and education-related considerations.

Our study is the first looking at the determinants of child stunting by using nationwide data according to the UNICEF framework on the causes of malnutrition. By doing so, this study explored the association between several explanatory variables and child stunting. The DHS sampling frame is widely known as representative and fairly captures the global situation within a country. However, there are some limitations in using survey data. For instance, recall bias can occur especially when asking about child nutrition and child feeding practices. Also, weight was omitted from the dataset because of the lack of precision during measurements. Thus, other

indicators of undernutrition and their determinants could not be calculated. Finally, not all the children included in the child dataset had their height measured resulting in a substantial amount of missing values. Despite all of these limitations, DHS data constitutes the primary source of quality data for nutrition and health status.

#### Conclusions

Our results confirmed that nearly half of the Malagasy children were stunted in 2009. Stunting prevalence and risks varied across different regions of Madagascar. The determinants of stunting were different in young children (0-23 months) and in children aged 24-59 months leading to the conclusion that nutrition interventions should be different for each age group. Because underlying and basic factors greatly affect children's nutritional status, consideration of these factors should be made when designing programs and nutrition actions targeting the reduction of stunting. Malnutrition is a multifactorial problem, so sustainable solutions should include different sectors mainly agriculture, education and public health as well as economy.

Age groups	0-23 months		24-59 months	
Variables	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Sex				
➤ Male	924	49.6	1480	50.8
➢ Female	939	50.4	1431	49.2
Wealth index quintile				
Poorest	551	29.6	822	28.2
> Poorer	373	20.0	632	21.7
Average	341	18.3	505	17.3
Richer	300	16.1	488	16.8
<ul><li>Richest</li></ul>	298	16.0	464	15.9
Area of residence				
➤ Urban	332	17.8	532	18.3
Rural	1531	82.2	2379	81.7
Highest maternal education				
level	552	28.6	912	27.0
No education	026	20.0	015	27.9
Primary	920	49.7	550	10.2
Secondary	22	19.9	220	19.2
➢ Higher	55	1.0	20	1.0
Breastfeeding				
<ul> <li>Never breastfed</li> </ul>	10	0.5	24	0.8
$\succ$ 0 - 6 months	531	29.0	46	1.6
➤ 7 - 12 months	557	30.5	350	12.2
➤ 13 - 23 months	729	39.9	1229	42.8
$\geq$ 24 – 59 months	-	-	1221	42.5
Missing	36		41	
Drinking water source				
Unimproved <sup>a</sup>	851	46.6	1374	47.6
➤ Improved <sup>b</sup>	913	50.0	1420	49.2
Piped water	62	3.4	90	3.1
<ul><li>Missing</li></ul>	37		27	

Table 3: Socio-demographic characteristics of the children under 5 years of age, Madagascar 2009 (n=4774).

Age groups	0-23 months		24-59 months	
Variables	Frequency	Percentage (%)	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Toilets facility				
No toilet	1055	57.5	1598	55.1
<ul> <li>Latrines (bucket,</li> </ul>	705	38.0	1204	41.5
hanging, pit)				
<ul><li>Flush toilet</li></ul>	76	4.1	97	3.35
Missing	27		12	

<sup>a</sup>Unimproved soure of water: surface water, spring water, river, rainwater

<sup>b</sup>Improved source of water: public tap, tube wells, dug wells.



Regions of Madagascar

Figure 3: Prevalence of stunting in the regions of Madagascar

Age group	0-23 months (n=1171)		24-59 months (n=2749)	
Variables	COR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)	COR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Sex of the child				
Male	1	1	1	1
Female	0.69 (0.58-0.83)***	0.69 (0.55 0.88)**	0.84 (0.72-0.97)*	0.84 (0.72-0.98)*
Age of child in	1 00 (1 06 1 10)***	1 07 (1 04 1 00)***	1 01 (1 00 1 03)**	1 01 (1 00 1 07)**
months	1.08 (1.00-1.10)	1.07 (1.04-1.09)	1.01 (1.00-1.02)**	1.01 (1.00-1.02)**
Anemia level				
Not anemic	1	1	1	1
Mild	1.09 (0.84-1.42)	1.14 (0.85-1.53)	1.24 (1.05 -1.48)*	1.27 (1.06-1.50)**
Moderate	1.58 (1.21-2.07)**	1.72 (1.28-2.30)**	1.70 (1.37-2.22)***	1.80 (1.43-2.25)***
Severe	3.81 (1.47-9.92)**	3.50 (1.18-10.42)**	2.22 (0.68-7.26)	2.31 (0.70-7.57)
Immunization				
<i>coverage<sup>a</sup></i>				
Incomplete	Not tested	Not tested	1	1
Complete			0.84 (0.72-0.97)*	0.84 (0.72-0.99)*
Time after birth for				
first breastfeeding				
Immediately	1	1	1	ns
At least after 1 hour	0.83 (0.68-1.01)	0.73 (0.57-0.94)*	0.99 (0.85-1.16)	
Calculated months	1 00 (1 07 1 10)***	20	1 01 (1 00 1 02)**	20
of breastfeeding	1.09 (1.07-1.10)	115	1.01 (1.00-1.03)**	115

Table 4: Immediate factors of stunting in children under 5 years old, Madagascar 2009

OR: odds ratios; CI: confidence interval; COR: crude odds ratios; AOR: adjusted odds ratios

<sup>a</sup>Immunization coverage: complete if the child received BCG, DPT, hepatitis B and polio vaccines

\*p-value < 0.05; \*\*p-value < 0.01; \*\*\*p-value < 0.001

Table 5: Underlying factors (maternal and household) of stunting in children under 5 years old, Madagascar

Age group	0 – 23 months		24 – 59 months	
VARIABLES	COR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)	COR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
(maternal)	n= 1731		n= 1644	
Maternal education				
No formal education			1	
Incomplete primary			1.29 (1.08-1.53)**	
Complete primary	ns	-	1.08 (0.74-1.58)	-
Incomplete secondary			0.87 (0.70-1.09)	
Complete secondary			0.26 (0.10-0.66)**	
Higher			0.37 (0.16-0.85)*	
Maternal HAZ	0.73 (0.66-0.81)***	0.77 (0.69-0.86)***	0.71 (0.66-0.77)***	0.69 (0.62-0.77)***
Currently breastfeeding				
No	1	1	1	1
Yes	0.66 (0.50-0.87)**	0.63 (0.47-0.86)**	1.43 (1.24-1.66)***	1.29 (1.05-1.58)*
Tobacco use				
Yes	ns	ns	1	-
No			1.40 (1.16-1.68)**	
Land where mother				
works				
Own land	ng	ng	1	1
Extended family's land	115	115	1.43 (1.14-1.79)**	1.63 (1.25-2.14)**
Someone else's or rented			0.79 (0.59-1.06)	0.74 (0.53-1.03)
Employment status				
Working	1		ns	ns
Not working	1.40 (1.03-1.89)*	-		
Number of living	nc	ns	1.08 (1.04-1.12)***	1 09 (1 04-1 15)***
children	115	115	1.00 (1.04-1.12)	1.07 (1.04-1.13)

Age group	0 – 23 months		24 – 59 months	
VARIABLES (maternal)	COR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)	COR (95% CI)	AOR (95% CI)
Frequency of watching	n= 1731	n= 1644		
TV				
Not at all			1	
Less than once a week			0.88 (0.57-1.36)	-
At least once a week			0.80 (0.47-1.38)	
Almost everyday			0.59 (0.46-0.75)***	
Maternal religion				
Traditional	1.41 (1.10-1.79)**		na	na
Christian/Muslim	1.26 (0.99-1.59)	-	115	115
No religion	1			
VARIABLES	n-1730		n-1146	
(household)	1-1	139	II-I	140
Wealth index				
Poorest	1.18 (0.88-1.60)		1.47 (1.17-1.86)	1.10 (0.29-4.07)
Poorer	1.41(1.03-1.93)*		1.72 (1.35-2.20)***	3.13 (1.94-5.95)***
Average	1.35 (0.98-1.87)	-	1.96 (1.52-2.53)***	3.18 (2.03-4.96)***
Richer	1.59 (1.14-2.21)**		1.69 (1.30-2.18)***	2.31 (1.59-3.36)***
Richest	1		1	1
Number of household	ns	ns	1.03 (1.02-1.06)*	1.06 (1.00-1.13)**
members			, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
Salt iodine test		4		
0 - 7 ppm				-
8 - 15 ppm	0.92 (0.70-1.20)	0.92 (0.71-1.20)	0.78 (0.63-0.96)*	
> 15 ppm	0.76 (0.61-0.94)*	0.76 (0.61-0.94)*	0.61 (0.52-0.73)***	
Toilets facility shared				
Yes	ns	ns	1	1
No	115	110	0.78 (0.58-0.91)**	0.63 (0.48-0.82)*

OR: odds ratios; CI: confidence interval; COR: crude odds ratios; AOR: adjusted odds ratios

ns: not significant; \*p-value < 0.05; \*\*p-value < 0.01; \*\*\*p-value < 0.

Age group	0 – 23 months	24 – 59 months	
	n= 1863	n= 2911	
VARIABLES	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	
Area of residence			
Rural	1	1	
Urban	0.67 (0.51-0.88)**	0.73 (0.59-0.90)**	
Region of residence			
Analamanga <sup>a</sup>	1	1	
Alaotra Mangoro	1.06 (0.60-1.89)	1.38 (0.88-2.17)	
Amoron'I Mania	2.45 (1.44-4.16)**	2.34 (1.51-3.64)**	
Analanjirofo	0.89 (0.46-1.72)	1.26 (0.78-2.03)	
Androy	1.07 (0.62-1.84)	1.30 (0.84-2.02)	
Anosy	0.59 (0.32-1.09)	1.75 (1.10-2.79)*	
Atsimo Andrefana	0.57 (0.32-0.99)*	0.91 (0.58-1.41)	
Atsimo Atsinanana	0.67 (0.39-1.14)	0.85 (0.57-1.28)	
Atsinanana	1.00 (0.54-1.86)	1.13 (0.74-1.34)	
Betsiboka	0.22 (0.11-0.43)***	0.25 (0.16-0.41)***	
Boeny	1.19 (0.69-2.07)	0.59 (0.37-0.94)*	
Bongolava	0.69 (0.34-1.44)	0.93 (0.54-1.60)	
Diana	1.21 (0.66-2.21)	0.57 (0.33-0.96)*	
Ihorombe	0.84 (0.502-1.415)	1.04 (0.69-1.55)	
Itasy	0.53 (0.29-0.96)*	1.08 (0.71-1.65)	
Matsiatra Ambony	1.44 (0.88-2.36)	2.26 (1.48-3.45)**	
Melaky	0.28 (0.13-0.60)**	0.42 (0.2-0.66)**	
Menabe	0.97(0.53-1.77)	0.71 (0.43-1.15)	
Sava	0.66 (0.33-1.32)	0.65 (0.39-1.06)	
Sofia	0.41 (0.23-0.73)**	0.66 (0.43-1.00)	
Vakinakaratra	1.54 (0.89-2.66)	1.25 (0.81-1.91)	
Vatovavy Fitovinany	0.680 (0.39-1.19)	1.00 (0.66-1.52)	

Table 6: Basic factors of stunting in children under 5 years old, Madagascar 2009

OR: odds ratios; CI: confidence interval

<sup>a</sup>Capitol city region

\*p-value < 0.05; \*\*p-value < 0.01; \*\*\*p-value < 0.001

# CHAPTER V

# INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD FEEDING (IYCF) INDICATORS IN MADAGASCAR: ANALYSIS OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY

## Introduction

Childhood malnutrition remains a public health challenge, especially in low and middleincome countries, as more than one third of the disease burden is due to maternal and child undernutrition (8). Recent findings that growth faltering occurs sooner than expected in infants confirms the importance of nutrition during the first two years of life to ensure optimal growth and development for children (42). Aware that feeding practices directly impact nutritional status of infants and young children, the WHO validated a set of indicators to assess infant and child feeding practices across countries (23). The eight core indicators consider both breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices (Table 1).

Generally suboptimal IYCF indicators are observed in countries with the highest burden of malnutrition. The reported rates of exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months were relatively low in certain countries such as Ethiopia (43%), Zambia (51.4%), Bangladesh (36.1%) and India (42%) (29). Inappropriate complementary feeding practices were also reported in Ethiopia and Zambia where the proportion of children aged 6-23 months given more than four food groups in a day were respectively 7.1% and 37.1% (30). For Madagascar, from the 2004 data, 61% of infants were breastfed within the first hour of birth, 67% were exclusively breastfed under 6 months and 78% were introduced to complementary foods between 6 and 8 months, showing better infant feeding practices than the average of the least developed and Sub-Saharan countries (28). Yet for the complementary feeding indicators such as dietary diversity (31%) or minimum acceptable diet (25%), practices still need improvement.

Few studies have looked at the determinants of IYCF practices in developing countries. Results showed that educated mothers were more likely to have appropriate complementary feeding practices regarding minimum meal frequency, dietary diversity, minimum acceptable diet and iron-rich food consumption in Uganda (31). Kabir et al. (32) found similar results in Bangladesh, as non-educated mothers were less likely to meet the recommendations for complementary feeding. Moreover, Na et al. (33) reported that increased maternal access to financial resources had positive association with the minimum dietary diversity and the minimum acceptable diet criteria in nine sub-Saharan African countries. Additionally, children living in the poorest households were more likely to have untimely introduction to complementary foods in India and Pakistan (14).

Area of residence has also been suggested to play a role in IYCF practices as Senarath et al. (64) found that children living in urban areas and in tea estates were less likely to be introduced to complementary food at 6-8 months. For Madagascar, the results of the Comprehensive Food and Nutrition Security and Vulnerability Analysis (CFSVA+N) showed that maternal education was associated with early initiation of breastfeeding, minimum dietary diversity and minimum acceptable diet. The report also stated that family wealth was associated with having greater diet diversity in complementary foods (48).

Study results are not consistent about the association of IYCF and child growth, especially when stunting is used as indicator. Marriott et al. (65) used pooled data from 14 developing countries to determine the relationship between IYCF indicators and stunting in children under 2 years old. Only timely introduction of solid and semi-solid foods, having a minimum acceptable diet and consumption of iron-fortified foods were associated with lower risk of stunting. Having minimum dietary diversity was also associated with better length-for age zscores (LAZ) of the children in Bangladesh and Zambia (29). Continued breastfeeding at 1 year was inversely correlated with HAZ in Zimbabwe, Ethiopia and Zambia (29, 30). Additionally, in a study using the Cambodian DHS, only exclusive breastfeeding was associated with less stunting (66). Not all of the IYCF indicators are associated with child anthropometrics and findings tend to be different according to the country. Thus, there is a need to study the relationship between child undernutrition and the IYCF indicators at the country level.

Only a few studies have looked at the infant and young child feeding practices in relation to child nutrition in Madagascar. For instance, Moursi et al. (67) reported that infant complementary feeding indicators were correlated with total energy intake and minimum diet diversity adequacy in infants aged 6-23 months in urban areas. They also found that dietary diversity was positively associated with LAZ. Another study (68) looked at the pertinence of cross-sectional and longitudinal infant and children feeding indicators and their relationship with LAZ in infants 6-17 months. They elaborated cross sectional and longitudinal feeding indicator scores including breastfeeding status, bottle feeding, diet diversity score, food group frequency score and feeding frequency score. They noticed that the cross-sectional indicators were not significantly associated with LAZ in contrast to the longitudinal indicators in which the score is obtained from the sum of the cross sectional indicators. To our knowledge, our study is the first to look at the association of the WHO IYCF indicators and child stunting in Madagascar using nation-wide data. We also aim to investigate the maternal and household factors associated with inappropriate IYCF practices.

## Methods

Publicly available data from the latest Demographic and Health Survey (2009) in Madagascar were used. By using two-stage cluster sampling, information about fertility, family planning, maternal and child health, gender, HIV/AIDS, malaria and nutrition were collected at the national level (69). For the purpose of this study, we used the child dataset containing information about children born within the last 5 years. Specifically we analyzed data from infants and young children aged 0-23 months. The dataset included 1956 observations.

Binary variables corresponding to each of the definitions of IYCF indicators were created in compliance with the recommendations. The minimum diversity variable was created from the diet diversity score of each child and coded as 1 if the child had eaten at least from 4 or more food groups the day before the interview and 0 otherwise. The food groups were defined as 1) grains, roots and tubers, 2) legumes and nuts, 3) dairy products, 4) flesh foods, 5) eggs, 6) vitamin A-rich fruit and vegetables and 7) other fruit and vegetables (4). Information was not collected about the meal frequency thus we were not able to evaluate the indicators 6 and 7: minimum meal frequency and minimum acceptable diet. Because no data about the consumption of iron-fortified foods were collected, the indicator 8: consumption of iron-rich foods was estimated on the consumption of flesh foods (meat, fish, poultry and liver/organ meats).

Stunting was defined by the 2006 WHO growth standards: children with length/heightfor-age z-scores (LAZ/HAZ) below -2 were considered stunted (39). Thus, a binary variable was also created for the LAZ/HAZ.

Logistic regressions were used to determine the association between the IYCF indicators and stunting. Chi-square tests and logistic regressions were performed to assess the relationship

between the maternal and household factors and IYCF indicators. All the statistical analyses were computed on SAS, v. 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA) and a significance level of 5% was chosen.

# Results

### Characteristics of the infants and mothers

A total of 40.7% of the children aged 6-23 months in Madagascar were stunted. There was no difference between the proportions of boys and girls. More than half of the mothers (53.8%) were younger than 19 when they first gave birth (Table 7). A substantial proportion of the mothers had no formal education (28.8%) and almost half of them only attended primary school (49.5%). Exposure to media was very low because most mothers never read newspapers nor magazines (84.9%), listened to radio (46.5%) nor watched television (85.8%). The great majority of the households lived in rural areas (82.2%). Nearly half (49.6%) of the children lived in households with the two lowest quintiles of the wealth index. Additionally, more than half of the households (57.6%) did not have toilets and almost half (47%) drank from unimproved sources of water such as rainwater, spring or surface water.

#### Situation of IYCF indicators in Madagascar in 2009

A substantial number of infants were put to the breast within the first hour after birth (78.1%) and continued breastfeeding at one year was almost universal (99.6%) as seen in figure 4. However, exclusive breastfeeding was relatively low as less than half of the mothers (49%) exclusively breastfed their infants during the first 6 months. A total of 77.2% of the infants had timely introduction to complementary foods at 6-8 months. Only 17.4% of the infants aged 6-23 months ate from four or more food groups. And an extremely small proportion (1.8%) ate an iron-rich food the previous day.

# IYCF and Stunting

No significant associations were found between any of the six IYCF indicators tested and stunting. Because children's weight was not reported in the 2009 DHS data for Madagascar, we could not test the association between IYCF practices and wasting (low height-for-weight) or underweight (low weight-for-age).

# Determinants of Inappropriate IYCF in Madagascar

Because of the high compliance with continued breastfeeding at one year (only one observation did not comply), the indicator was not tested for regression models.

Sex of the child was not a determinant for any of the IYCF indicators. Infants whose mothers gave birth for the first time at an age younger than 19 years were more likely not to breastfed within the first hour (OR=1.29). Also, rich and richer households were less likely to have inappropriate early initiation breastfeeding practices (OR=0.62 and OR=0.55, respectively) compared to the poorest households (Table 8).

Maternal age at first birth was the only factor significantly associated with exclusive breastfeeding under six months. Infants of mothers who first gave birth at an age younger than 19 years had 60% higher risk of not being exclusively breastfed during the first 6 months (OR=1.60).

For the complementary feeding indicators, none of the factors tested were associated with the time of introduction of solid, semi-solid or soft foods. Infants whose mothers attended secondary school or higher had lower odds of having inadequate dietary diversity (OR=0.20 for secondary school and OR=0.05 for higher). Maternal exposure to media was also associated with adequate dietary diversity in infants. For instance, infants whose mothers did not listen to radio at all were more likely to have inadequate dietary diversity (OR=3.30) compared to those whose mothers listened to radio almost everyday. Likewise, infants were more likely to have inadequate

dietary diversity if their mothers did not read newspaper (OR=9.22) or did not watch TV (OR=2.30) at all. Additionally, infants born to younger mothers had higher risks of being fed with inappropriate dietary diversity (OR=1.61).

Infants of mothers who worked were at higher risks of having children with inadequate dietary diversity (OR=1.82). The odds of having inappropriate dietary diversity decreased with increased wealth of the family (OR=0.51 for the middle, OR=0.35 for the richer and OR=0.09 for the richest). Children whose mothers attended high school or higher education had lower chances of inadequate consumption of iron-rich foods. Finally, children living in rural areas had higher odds of having inadequate iron-rich food consumption.

# Discussion

#### IYCF indicators for Madagascar

For the breastfeeding indicators, our results suggest that although the rate of exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months was low (49.0%), the two other breastfeeding practices indicators were high in Madagascar. A total of 78.1% of the children were put to breast within one hour after birth and continued breastfeeding at one year was almost universal (99.6%). Compared to the data published by WHO (28), all of the breastfeeding indicators were improved except for the exclusive breastfeeding rate, which was decreased from 67% to 49% (Figure 5). The decline in the rate of exclusive breastfeeding may be due to an increased number of working mothers because in 2009, a total of 88.6% of the mothers of infants aged 0-23 months were working. Thus, because of time constraints, they are more likely to have mixed feeding practices. The indicators are different from the State of the World's Children (SOWC) 2015 data (2) probably because they used both the 2009 DHS and the Multiple Indicators Cluster Surveys (MICS) as data sources. However, whether or not they used pooled data is not clear. Additionally, the results of the CFSVA+N in 2010 (48) showed that the rate of exclusive breastfeeding was higher

(74.5%) and the rate of early introduction of breastfeeding (58.5%) as well as the continued breastfeeding (96%) were lower in rural areas compared to Madagascar as a whole.

For the complementary feeding indicators, the rate of timely introduction of complementary foods from 2004 to 2009 hardly changed: 78% to 77.2% (Figure 6) based on DHS data. A considerable decrease was noticed in the percentage of infants who received the minimum dietary diversity from 31% to 14.4%. For the DHS 2009, data collection was conducted from November 2008 to August 2009, which coincided with a political crisis in the country. This may have contributed to the sizeable drop in the rate of minimum dietary diversity, as political instability is one of the basic causes of inadequate nutritional status in children. Additionally, there were even fewer infants in rural areas who had received the minimum dietary diversity according to the CFSVA+N analysis (14.1%) in 2010 (13).

Regarding IYCF indicators, compared to other countries with high burdens of undernutrition, only the rates of early introduction of breastfeeding and the continued breastfeeding at one year were higher in Madagascar with 99.6% (figure 7). The rate of timely introduction of complementary food was high (77.2%) but still lower than in Zambia (90%). The proportions of infants who received adequate dietary diversity were low for all of the countries investigated ranging from 7.1% in Ethiopia to 37.4% in Zambia. Similarly, the consumption of iron-rich/iron-fortified foods by children was low in all of the countries but it was dramatically worse for Madagascar (1.8%). The higher rate of consumption of iron-rich/iron-fortified foods in Zambia maybe the result of the iron fortification of commercialized milled maize. (70)

#### *IYCF and stunting*

None of the six core IYCF indicators tested showed a significant relationship with stunting. Jones et al. (29) found similar results in Cambodia, Haiti, Kenya and Uganda while using DHS data as well. They only found significant associations between stunting and the introduction of solid, semi-solid or soft foods in Bangladesh; minimum dietary diversity in Cambodia and the minimum acceptable diet in Zimbabwe. The authors argued that the 24 h-recall nature of the study does not allow one single indicator to capture the whole situation of feeding practices. Because the questions are only considering the feeding practices the previous day (the last 24 hours), no matter how the infant had been fed in the past, as long as the caregivers had appropriate feeding practices the previous day, they will still be compliant with the indicator. For instance, infants who had been given liquids two days prior to the survey might be considered as exclusively breastfed if they were not given any other liquid than breast milk the day before the survey. They suggested that the lack of sensitivity of the indicators might explain the lack of association between some IYCF indicators and child anthropometric measurements.

# Determinants of inappropriate IYCF practices

Sex of the child was not associated with any of the IYCF indicators tested suggesting that no differences were made by mothers or caregivers between boys and girls regarding feeding practices. Kabir et al. (32) found similar results while studying the determinants of inappropriate IYCF practices in Bangladesh.

Being born to a mother who gave birth at 19 or older or living in a family in the third and fourth quintile of wealth index was associated with an improved chance of initiating breastfeeding within the first hour after birth. A study using the Nigeria DHS reported that mothers with higher wealth were more likely to comply with the early initiation of breastfeeding (71). Richer households may have more access to health care and may have been in contact with health care professionals who encouraged better breastfeeding practices.

Lower odds of inadequate diet diversity in infants were associated with higher maternal education, greater maternal exposure to media and household wealth. Similar results were found in Bangladesh (32) and Uganda (31) as children of mothers with no formal education had higher

odds of not meeting the minimum dietary diversity criteria. Exposure to media may be used as a proxy for family wealth as owning a radio or a television or having access to a newspaper may reflect higher resources in the household. Additionally, studies across countries confirmed that increased family wealth was associated with better chances of meeting minimum dietary diversity (21, 31). Higher household wealth generally means having access to more diverse food and more resources can be allocated to childcare and nutrition.

Our results showed that infants of working mothers had higher odds of inadequate dietary diversity. There is no clear explanation about the association between the maternal working status and the dietary diversity score except that working mothers generally spend time away from their children, which may lead to poor complementary feeding practices. Additionally, caretakers might not be knowledgeable about infant and young children nutrition and good feeding practices.

The consumption of iron-rich foods was associated with secondary or higher maternal education. Additionally, children living in rural areas were less likely to eat flesh foods. The overall poor dietary diversity and poor consumption of iron-rich food may be linked to the access to food and to the general food insecurity in the country. Analyses from the CFSVA+N concluded that the seasonality of earnings due to a non-diversified income source in Malagasy households affects the access to food throughout the year (48). Thus, 84% of the households experienced a time in the year when they did not have sufficient food. Yet, when food was available, other factors may play a role in inappropriate complementary feeding such as maternal or caretaker nutrition knowledge or attitudes (58).

### Implications for programs and nutrition interventions

Although we concluded that none of the IYCF indicators were associated with stunting in Madagascar, having appropriate feeding indicators has been associated with children's

anthropometric measurements in several countries (29). Thus, improvements in breastfeeding and complementary feeding practices are still needed.

The younger maternal age at first birth (less than 19) was associated with inappropriate breastfeeding and minimum diet diversity. Programs that promote avoidance of teen pregnancy and sexual education among youth may be needed as 53.3% of the Malagasy mothers were younger than 19 when they had their first child. Additionally, pregnant adolescents are more likely to give birth to low birthweight babies and are at risk of adverse birth outcomes (72).

Other maternal characteristics were also associated with inadequate complementary feeding such as low or no formal maternal education and low exposure to media. Improved maternal education has been linked to improved complementary feeding practices (31). Additionally, women's empowerment interventions may lead to better nutritional outcomes. For instance, a study done across sub-Sahara African countries demonstrated that women who made decisions on large purchases and who have control over the household income were more likely to have adequate complementary feeding practices (33).

Integrated nutrition interventions aiming to improve overall nutrition outcomes also have been shown to be efficient in ameliorating inadequate IYCF practices. A pilot study, implementing the Essential Nutrition Actions (ENA) framework, was done in two districts of Madagascar in 2000 and reported a significant increase in early breastfeeding, in exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months, and in meeting the minimum meal frequency for young children (73). Through technical support and various trainings, as well as micronutrient supplementation, the ENA promotes key messages about maternal and child nutrition including feeding practices. The authors reported that involving a wide array of partners and creating a favorable policy environment through policy analysis and development were the key factors for the success of the

pilot study. Thus, implementing of such programs on a larger scale would be helpful in an effort to improve IYCF practices.

# Conclusions

The IYCF indicators for Madagascar were low, especially for the complementary feeding practices. Our results did not show any association between stunting and any of the IYCF indicators. Younger maternal age at first birth, low maternal education and low household wealth were associated with inappropriate feeding practices. Addressing food insecurity, increasing access to food and creating income generation opportunities may be needed in order to implement programs that improve complementary feeding practices in Madagascar.

Variables	Percentage (%)	
Individual factors		
Sex	10 -	
- Male	49.7	
- Female	50.3	
Nutritional status		
- Not stunted	59.3	
- Stunted	40.7	
Maternal characteristics		
Age at first birth		
- Younger than 19	53.9	
- 19 and older	46.1	
Highest maternal education level	28.0	
- No education	28.9	
- Primary	49.5	
- Secondary	19.8	
- Higher	1.7	
Exposure to media		
Frequency of reading newspaper/magazine	84.0	
- Not at all	04.9	
- Once a week	0.0	
- At least once a week	3.9	
- Almost every day	2.1	
Frequency of listening to radio	46.6	
- Not at all	10.5	
- Once a week	10.5	
- At least once a week	21.6	
- Almost every day	51.0	
Frequency of watching TV	85.9	
- Not at all	2.7	
- Once a week	2.4	
- At least once a week	8.9	
- Alliost every day Maternal current breastfeeding status	0.7	
No	13.3	
	86 7	
Maternal working status		
- Working	88.6	
- Not working	11.3	
Household characteristics		

Table 7: Characteristics of the infants aged 0-23 months and their mothers, Madagascar 2009 (n=1956).

Wealth Index	29.5
- Poorest	20.1
- Poor	10.4
- Middle	18.4
- Richer	16.0
- Richest	15.8
Area of residence	
- Rural	82.2
- Urban	17.7
Toilet facilities	
- No toilet	57.6
- Latrines (nit/hanging/bucket)	38.1
- Flush toilets	4.2
Drinking water source	
- Unimproved <sup>a</sup>	47
- Improved <sup>b</sup>	49.6
- Piped water	3.3

<sup>a</sup>Unimproved soure of water: surface water, spring water, river, rainwater.

<sup>b</sup>Improved source of water: public tap, tube wells, dug wells.


Figure 4: Infant and young child feeding (IYCF) indicators for Madagascar based on the DHS 2009.

Table 8: Determinants of inappropriate infant and young child feeding (IYCF) practices, Madagascar 2009.

Results expressed as crude odds ratios OR (95% CI).

	Early	Exclusive	Introduction of	Minimum dietarv	Consumption of			
Variables	introduction of	breastfeeding	semi-solid, solid	diversity	iron-rich/iron-			
	breastfeeding	under 6 months	and soft foods		fortified foods			
	Individual factors							
Sex (ref. male)	1.10 (0.88-1.37)	0.71 (0.49-1.02)	1.50 (0.83-2.69)	1.06 (0.81-1.40)	1.70 (0.77-3.78)			
	Maternal factors							
Age at first birth								
- 19 and older	1	1	1	1	1			
- Less than 19	1.29 (1.03-1.61)*	1.60 (1.10-2.32)*	1.08 (0.60-1.94)	1.61 (1.22-2.12)***	0.85 (0.39-1.84)			
Maternal education								
- No formal education	1	1	1	1	1			
- Primary	0.82 (0.64-1.06)	0.87 (0.57-1.35)	0.57 (0.30-1.08)	0.76 (0.51-1.13)	0.39 (0.11-1.38)			
- Secondary	0.71 (0.51-0.99)	0.67 (0.39-1.16)	0.55 (0.23-1.30)	0.20 (0.13-0.30)***	0.295 (0.07-1.15)			
- Higher	1.33 (0.62-2.88)	1.68 (0.30-9.51)	0.79 (0.08-7.99)	0.05 (0.02-0.13)***	0.06 (0.01-0.30)***			
Media exposure								
Reading newspaper								
- Not at all	1.28 (0.56-2.93)	1.02 (0.29-3.58)	0.79 (0.15-4.18)	9.22 (4.32-19.68)**	2.21 (0.28-17.12)			
- At least once a week	1.32 (0.55-3.15)	1.06 (0.28-4.05)	0.37 (0.05-2.59)	2.17 (0.98-4.84)	1.000 (0.11-8.62)			
- Almost every day	1	1	1	1	1			
Listening to radio								
- Not at all	1.35 (1.05-1.75)*	1.24 (0.80-1.89)	1.96 (0.93-4.10)	3.30 (2.38-4.57)***	1.68 (0.76-3.71)			
- At least once a week	1.05 (0.76-1.44)	0.79 (0.48-1.29)	2.33 (0.92-5.87)	1.59 (1.12-2.28)*	9.07 (1.18-89.65)*			
- Almost every day	1	1	1	1	1			
Watching TV								
- Not at all	1.16 (0.78-1.73)	1.026 (0.53-1.99)	2.30 (0.66-7.99)	7.62 (5.18-11.21)***	4.35 (1.75-10.77)**			
- At least once a week	0.79 (0.40-1.52)	1.14 (0.434-2.98)	2.09 (0.29-15.19)	2.53 (1.36-4.72)**	1.26 (0.32-5.05)			
- Almost every day	1	1	1	1	1			

Variables	Early introduction of breastfeeding	Exclusive breastfeeding under 6 months	Introduction of semi-solid, solid and soft foods	Minimum dietary diversity	Consumption of iron-rich/iron- fortified foods			
Work status								
- No	1	1	1	1	1			
- Yes	1.22 (0.85-1.76)	0.96 (0.57-1.63)	1.15 (0.47-2.802)	1.82 (1.22-2.71)**	1.18 (0.54-2.56)			
	Household factors							
Wealth Index								
- Poorest	1	1	1	1	1			
- Poorer	0.79 (0.59-1.07)	0.80 (0.46-1.41)	0.43 (0.19-0.97)	0.76 (0.45-1.29)	1.41 (0.35-5.68)			
- Middle	0.62 (0.45-0.87)**	0.63 (0.37-1.08)	0.70 (0.30-1.63)	0.51 (0.30-0.84)**	1.19 (0.29-4.82)			
- Richer	0.55 (0.38-0.78)*	0.47 (0.22-0.84)	0.68 (0.27-1.72)	0.35 (0.21-0.57)***	0.80 (0.22-2.88)			
- Richest	0.75 (0.54-1.05)	0.69 (0.39-1.22)	0.37 (0.14-0.99)	0.09 (0.059-0.15)***	0.31 (0.11-0.87)			
Area of residence								
- Urban	1	1	1	1	1			
- Rural	1.05 (0.79-1.41)	1.11 (0.71-1.81)	2.26 (0.91-5.62)	4.07 (2.95-5.47)	2.56 (1.13-5.82)*			



Data sources:

DHS: Demographic and Health Surveys

WHS: World Health Statistics

MICS: Multiple Indicators Cluster Surveys

CFSVA+N: Comprehensive Food and Nutrition Security and Vulnerability Analysis in rural areas

Figure 5: Comparisons between the breastfeeding indicators from different surveys in

Madagascar. Results expressed as percentages (%)



#### Data sources:

DHS: Demographic and Health Surveys

WHS: World Health Statistics

CFSVA+N: Comprehensive Food and Nutrition Security and Vulnerability Analysis in rural area

Figure 6: Comparisons between selected complementary feeding indicators from different

surveys in Madagascar. Results expressed by percentages (%).



Figure 7: Comparison between countries of the infant and young child feeding (IYCF) indicators

# CHAPTER VI

#### CONCLUSIONS

Our results confirmed the high prevalence of stunting in children under five years of age (48.5%) in Madagascar. The prevalence was higher in children older than 2 years (53.1%) than in the younger group (40.1%). A substantial proportion of the children lived in households with precarious conditions including unsafe sources of drinking water or non-existent toilet facilities. Sex and age of the child as well as anemia level and complete immunization coverage were identified as immediate factors affecting stunting. Maternal and household characteristics such as maternal HAZ, use of iodized salt and wealth were the main underlying factors affecting child stunting. Basic factors included areas and regions of residence.

Madagascar's National Nutrition Plan (2012) included a wide variety of interventions and strategies focused on reducing child and maternal undernutrition. Yet, our results suggest the need for regional nutrition plans and the need for separate interventions for infants aged 0-23 months and children aged 24-59 months. Moreover, investing in capacity building of local human resources and creation of nutrition curriculum may be the most sustainable way to build the needed capacity. Given the multifactorial aspects of stunting, the National Nutrition Plan should consider all sectors that could affect nutritional status such as agriculture, education, health and economic sectors.

71

Regarding feeding practices, the rates of early initiation of breastfeeding, of continued breastfeeding at 1 year and of timely introduction of complementary foods were reasonable in Madagascar. However, the exclusive breastfeeding rate, the proportion of children who received the minimum diet diversity and the consumption of iron-rich food were particularly low. No association was found between any of the IYCF indicators and stunting. The main determinants of inappropriate feeding practices included, but were not limited to, lack of maternal education, young maternal age at first birth, low maternal exposure to media and low household wealth.

Our findings constitute the first analysis of data on the determinants of child stunting in Madagascar, thus further research is needed in the field of undernutrition in the country. More focused or regional studies should be done in terms of the key factors affecting children's nutritional status, as social, economic and cultural contexts are different across the 22 regions. Additionally, results of interventions targeting the reduction of undernutrition should be reported and disseminated so lessons could be learned about what interventions are effective and efficient. Concerning IYCF indicators, more sensitive indicators could be created to assess feeding practices in children and their association with child undernutrition. The results of our study will be published in international journals.

72

#### REFERENCES

 Black RE, Victora CG, Walker SP, Bhutta ZA, Christian P, de Onis M, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition and overweight in low-income and middle-income countries. Lancet. 2013;382(9890):427-51.

2. UNICEF. The state of the world's children 2015: Reimagine the future: Innovation for every child 2014.

de Boo HA, Harding JE. The developmental origins of adult disease (Barker) hypothesis.
 Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol. 2006;46(1):4-14.

 Georgieff MK. Nutrition and the developing brain: nutrient priorities and measurement. Am J Clin Nutr. 2007;85(2):614s-20s.

 WHO. Indicators for assessing infants and young children feeding practices. Part 1: Definitions. 2008. Available from

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/43895/1/9789241596664 eng.pdf.

6. Gibson RS, Ferguson EL, Lehrfeld J. Complementary foods for infant feeding in developing countries: their nutrient adequacy and improvement. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1998;52(10):764-70.

Bhutta ZA, Ahmed T, Black RE, Cousens S, Dewey K, Giugliani E, et al. What works?
 Interventions for maternal and child undernutrition and survival. Lancet. 2008;371(9610):417-40.

 Black RE, Allen LH, Bhutta ZA, Caulfield LE, de Onis M, Ezzati M, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition: global and regional exposures and health consequences. Lancet. 2008;371(9608):243-60.

9. Prendergast AJ, Humphrey JH. The stunting syndrome in developing countries. Paediatr Int Child Health. 2014;34(4):250-65.

Dewey KG, Begum K. Long-term consequences of stunting in early life. Matern Child Nutr.
 2011;7 Suppl 3:5-18.

11. Victora CG, Adair L, Fall C, Hallal PC, Martorell R, Richter L, et al. Maternal and child undernutrition: consequences for adult health and human capital. Lancet. 2008;371(9609):340-57.

12. Ramirez-Zea M, Melgar P, Rivera JA. INCAP Oriente longitudinal study: 40 years of history and legacy. J Nutr. 2010;140(2):397-401.

13. Stevens GA, Finucane MM, Paciorek CJ, Flaxman SR, White RA, Donner AJ, et al. Trends in mild, moderate, and severe stunting and underweight, and progress towards MDG 1 in 141 developing countries: a systematic analysis of population representative data. Lancet.

2012;380(9844):824-34.

Senarath U, Agho KE, Akram DE, Godakandage SS, Hazir T, Jayawickrama H, et al.
 Comparisons of complementary feeding indicators and associated factors in children aged 6-23
 months across five South Asian countries. Maternal & child nutrition. 2012;8 Suppl 1:89-106.

15. WHO. Global and regional trends by WHO Regions, 1990-2014

Stunting 2015. Available from:

http://apps.who.int/gho/data/node.main.NUTWHOREGIONS?lang=en.

16. UNICEF. The state of the world's children 1998. 1998. Available from

http://www.unicef.org/sowc/archive/ENGLISH/The%20State%20of%20the%20World's%20Chil dren%201998.pdf.

17. Smith LC, Ruel MT, Ndiaye A. Why is child malnutrition lower in urban than in rural areas? Evidence from 36 developing countries. World Dev. 2005;33(8):1285–305.

Beiersmann C, Bermejo Lorenzo J, Bountogo M, Tiendrebeogo J, Gabrysch S, Ye M, et al.
 Malnutrition determinants in young children from Burkina Faso. J Trop Pediatr. 2013;59(5):372-

9.

19. Bomela NJ. Social, economic, health and environmental determinants of child nutritional status in three Central Asian Republics. Public Health Nutr. 2009;12(10):1871-7.

Rannan-Eliya RP, Hossain SM, Anuranga C, Wickramasinghe R, Jayatissa R, Abeykoon
 AT. Trends and determinants of childhood stunting and underweight in Sri Lanka. Ceylon Med J.
 2013;58(1):10-8.

21. Gewa CA, Yandell N. Undernutrition among Kenyan children: contribution of child, maternal and household factors. Public Health Nutr. 2012;15(6):1029-38.

22. Chirande L, Charwe D, Mbwana H, Victor R, Kimboka S, Issaka AI, et al. Determinants of stunting and severe stunting among under-fives in Tanzania: evidence from the 2010 cross-sectional household survey. BMC Pediatr. 2015;15(1):165.

23. Linnemayr S, Alderman H, Ka A. Determinants of malnutrition in Senegal: individual, household, community variables, and their interaction. Econ Human Biol. 2008;6(2):252-63.

24. Pongou R, Ezzati M, Salomon JA. Household and community socioeconomic and environmental determinants of child nutritional status in Cameroon. BMC Public Health. 2006;6:98.

25. Egata G, Berhane Y, Worku A. Predictors of acute undernutrition among children aged 6 to
36 months in east rural Ethiopia: a community based nested case - control study. BMC Pediatr.
2014;14:91.

26. Blaney S, Beaudry M, Latham M. Determinants of undernutrition in rural communities of a protected area in Gabon. Public Health Nutr. 2009;12(10):1711-25.

27. Aheto JM, Keegan TJ, Taylor BM, Diggle PJ. Childhood malnutrition and its determinants among under-five children in Ghana. Paediatr Perinatal Epidemiol. 2015;29(6):552-61.

28. WHO. Indicators of assessing infants and young child feeding practices. Part 3: Country profiles. 2008. Available from:

http://www.who.int/maternal child adolescent/documents/9789241599757/en/.

29. Jones AD, Ickes SB, Smith LE, Mbuya MN, Chasekwa B, Heidkamp RA, et al. World Health Organization infant and young child feeding indicators and their associations with child anthropometry: a synthesis of recent findings. Matern Child Nutr. 2014;10(1):1-17.

30. Disha AD, Rawat R, Subandoro A, Menon P. Infant and young child feeding practices in Ethiopia and Zambia and their association with child nutrition: analysis of demographic and health survey data. Afr J Food Agric Nutr Dev. 2012;12(2):5895-914.

31. Ickes SB, Hurst TE, Flax VL. Maternal literacy, facility birth, and education are positively associated with better infant and young child feeding practices and nutritional status among Ugandan children. J Nutr. 2015;145(11):2578-86.

32. Kabir I, Khanam M, Agho KE, Mihrshahi S, Dibley MJ, Roy SK. Determinants of inappropriate complementary feeding practices in infant and young children in Bangladesh: secondary data analysis of Demographic Health Survey 2007. Matern Child Nutr. 2012;8 Suppl 1:11-27.

33. Na M, Jennings L, Talegawkar SA, Ahmed S. Association between women's empowerment and infant and child feeding practices in sub-Saharan Africa: an analysis of Demographic and Health Surveys. Public Health Nutr. 2015;18(17):3155-65.

34. ICF International. Demographic and Health Survey Sampling and Household Listing
Manual. Calverton, Maryland, U.S.A: ICF International, 2012. Available from:
https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/DHSM4/DHS6\_Sampling\_Manual\_Sept2012\_DHSM4.pdf.

35. INSTAT, ICF Macro. Enquête Démographique et de Santé de Madagascar 2008-2009.
Antananarivo, Madagascar INSTAT et ICF Macro, 2010. Available from: http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf\_docs/Pnadt385.pdf.

36. Rutstein SO, G. R. Guide to DHS statistics, Demographic and Health Survey Methodology. ORC Macro, Calverton, Maryland, USA. ICF International. , 2006. Available from: http://www.dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/DHSG1/Guide\_to\_DHS\_Statistics\_29Oct2012\_DHSG1.p df. 37. WHO. World Health Statistics. 2015. Available from:

http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/170250/1/9789240694439 eng.pdf.

38. Asgary R, Liu M, Naderi R, Grigoryan Z, Malachovsky M. Malnutrition prevalence and nutrition barriers in children under 5 years: a mixed methods study in Madagascar. Int Health. 2015;7(6):426-32.

39. WHO. Executive summary: WHO Chilld Growth Standards 2006. Available from: http://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/tr\_summary/en/.

40. WHO. WHO child growth standards : length/height-for-age, weight-for-age, weight-forlength, weight-for- height and body mass index-for-age : methods and development. 2006. Available from: http://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/technical\_report/en/.

41. Dewey KG. Guiding principles for complementary feeding of the breastfed child. World Health Organization, 2002. Available from:

http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/guiding\_principles\_compfeeding\_breastfed.pdf.

42. Victora CG, de Onis M, Hallal PC, Blossner M, Shrimpton R. Worldwide timing of growth faltering: revisiting implications for interventions. Pediatrics. 2010;125(3):e473-80.

43. Wamani H, Astrom AN, Peterson S, Tumwine JK, Tylleskar T. Boys are more stunted than girls in sub-Saharan Africa: a meta-analysis of 16 demographic and health surveys. BMC Pediatr. 2007;7:17.

44. WHO. Child growth standards: length/height-for-age 2006. Available from:

http://www.who.int/childgrowth/standards/height\_for\_age/en/.

45. Semba RD, de Pee S, Berger SG, Martini E, Ricks MO, Bloem MW. Malnutrition and infectious disease morbidity among children missed by the childhood immunization program in Indonesia. Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health. 2007;38(1):120-9.

46. Dostie B, Haggblade S, Randriamamonjy J. Seasonal poverty in Madagascar: magnitude and solutions. Food Policy. 2002;27:493-518.

77

47. Motbainor A, Worku A, Kumie A. Stunting is associated with food diversity while wasting with food insecurity among underfive children in East and West Gojjam zones of Amhara region, Ethiopia. PloS One. 2015;10(8):e0133542.

48. WFP, UNICEF. Rural Madagascar comprehensive food and nutrition security and vulnerability analysis. 2011:184. Available from:

http://www.wfp.org/sites/default/files/MAG%202010%20CFSVA+N\_Full%20report\_English.pd f.

49. Uauy R, Kurpad A, Tano-Debrah K, Otoo GE, Aaron GA, Toride Y, et al. Role of protein and amino acids in infant and young child nutrition: Protein and amino acid needs and relationship with child growth. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol. 2015;61 Suppl:S192-4.

50. Farebrother J, Naude CE, Nicol L, Sang Z, Yang Z, Andersson M, et al. Systematic review of the effects of iodised salt and iodine supplements on prenatal and postnatal growth: study protocol. BMJ. 2015;5(4):e007238.

51. Zimmermann MB. The effects of iodine deficiency in pregnancy and infancy. Paediatric and Perinat Epidemiol. 2012;26 Suppl 1:108-17.

52. Channon AA. Can mothers judge the size of their newborn? Assessing the determinants of a mother's perception of a baby's size at birth. J Biosocial Sci. 2011;43(5):555-73.

 Ramaroson Rakotosamimanana V, Valentin D, Arvisenet G. How to use local resources to fight malnutrition in Madagascar? A study combining a survey and a consumer test. Appetite.
 2015;95:533-43.

54. USDA. National nutirent database for standard reference release 28 2015. Available from: https://ndb.nal.usda.gov/ndb/foods/show/2974?fgcd=&manu=&lfacet=&format=&count=&max= 35&offset=&sort=&qlookup=moringa.

 Repoblikan'i Madagasikara. Plan d'action pour la nutrition 2012-2015. 2012. Available from: http://scalingupnutrition.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Madagascar\_PNAN-2012\_2015.pdf. 56. Morris SS, Cogill B, Uauy R. Effective international action against undernutrition: why has it proven so difficult and what can be done to accelerate progress? Lancet. 2008;371(9612):608-21.

57. Bryce J, Coitinho D, Darnton-Hill I, Pelletier D, Pinstrup-Andersen P. Maternal and child undernutrition: effective action at national level. Lancet. 2008;371(9611):510-26.

58. Ramaroson Rakotosamimanana V, Arvisenet G, Valentin D. Studying the nutritional beliefs and food practices of Malagasy school children parents. A contribution to the understanding of malnutrition in Madagascar. Appetite. 2014;81:67-75.

 Republic of Kenya. National Nutrition Action Plan 2012-2017. 2012. Available from: http://scalingupnutrition.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/10/Kenya-National-Nutrition-Action-Plan-2012-2017-final.pdf.

60. Liu J, Fritz S, Van Wesenbeeck C, Fuchs M, Liangzhi Y, Obersteiner M, et al. A spatially explicit assessment of current and future hotspots of hunger in Sub-Saharan Africa in the context of global change. Glob Planet Change. 2008;64:222-35.

Minten B, Barrett CB. Agricultural technology, productivity, and poverty in Madagascar.
 World Dev. 2007;36(5):797-822.

62. Trübswasser U, Nishida C, Engesveen K, Coulibaly-Zerbo F. Landscape analysis-assessing countries' readiness to scale up nutrition actions in the WHO african region. Afr J Food Agric Nutr Dev. 2012;12(4):6260-73.

63. Government of the Federal Democratic Republic of Ethiopia. National NutritionProgramme. 2013. Available from:

http://www.unicef.org/ethiopia/National\_Nutrition\_Programme.pdf.

64. Senarath U, Dibley MJ, Godakandage SS, Jayawickrama H, Wickramasinghe A, Agho KE. Determinants of infant and young child feeding practices in Sri Lanka: secondary data analysis of Demographic and Health Survey 2000. Food Nutr Bull. 2010;31(2):352-65. 65. Marriott BP, White A, Hadden L, Davies JC, Wallingford JC. World Health Organization (WHO) infant and young child feeding indicators: associations with growth measures in 14 low-income countries. Matern Child Nutr. 2012;8(3):354-70.

66. Marriott BP, White AJ, Hadden L, Davies JC, Wallingford JC. How well are infant and young child World Health Organization (WHO) feeding indicators associated with growth outcomes? An example from Cambodia. Matern Child Nutrition. 2010;6(4):358-73.

67. Moursi MM, Treche S, Martin-Prevel Y, Maire B, Delpeuch F. Association of a summary index of child feeding with diet quality and growth of 6-23 months children in urban Madagascar. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2009;63(6):718-24.

68. Moursi MM, Martin-Prevel Y, Eymard-Duvernay S, Capon G, Treche S, Maire B, et al. Assessment of child feeding practices using a summary index: stability over time and association with child growth in urban Madagascar. Am J Clin Nutr. 2008;87(5):1472-9.

69. USAID. The Demographic and Health Survey Program 2015. Available from:

http://www.usaid.gov/what-we-do/global-health/cross-cutting-areas/demographic-and-healthsurveys-program.

70. Madamombe I. Combating Zambia's 'hidden hunger' 2007. Available from:

http://www.un.org/africarenewal/magazine/january-2007/combating-zambia's-'hidden-hunger'.

71. Ogbo FA, Agho KE, Page A. Determinants of suboptimal breastfeeding practices in Nigeria: evidence from the 2008 demographic and health survey. BMC Public Health. 2015;15:259.

72. Thurnham DI. Nutrition of adolescent girls in low- and middle-income countries Sight and Life Mag. 2013;27(3):26 - 37.

73. Guyon AB, Quinn VJ, Hainsworth M, Ravonimanantsoa P, Ravelojoana V, Rambeloson Z, et al. Implementing an integrated nutrition package at large scale in Madagascar: the Essential Nutrition Actions framework. Food Nutr Bull. 2009;30(3):233-44.

# VITA

## Hasina Rakotomanana

# Candidate for the Degree of

## **Master of Science**

# **Thesis:** STUNTING AND INFANT AND YOUNG CHILD FEEDING PRACTICES IN MADAGASCAR: ANALYSIS OF THE DEMOGRAPHIC AND HEALTH SURVEY

Major Field: Nutritional Sciences

#### **Biographical**:

Place of Birth: Antananarivo, Madagascar. Hometown: Ambatomitsangana, Antananarivo, Madagascar.

# Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Nutritional Sciences at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in May, 2016.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Applied Chemistry at the University of Antananarivo, Antananarivo, Madagascar in April, 2014.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Agronomy, Food Science and Technology at the University of Antananarivo, Antananarivo, Madagascar in October, 2012.

#### **Experience:**

Instructor: Basic organic chemistry, Descriptive organic chemistry, Fruit and vegetables processing, Basic microbiology, Dairy products. Higher Professional Institute Masca, Antananarivo Madagascar. November 2012- March 2014.

#### **Professional Memberships:**

American Society for Nutrition, Student Member, March 2016-Present.